NETWORK-CENTRIC WARFARE COMMUNICATIONS WITH WIRELESS SENSOR NETWORKS AND DATA FUSION

by

Tolga Önel B.S., in E.E., Turkish Naval Academy, 1995 M.S., in Defence Technology Program Computer Engineering Option, Boğaziçi University, 2002

> Submitted to the Institute for Graduate Studies in Science and Engineering in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Program in Computer Engineering Boğaziçi University 2009

NETWORK-CENTRIC WARFARE COMMUNICATIONS WITH WIRELESS SENSOR NETWORKS AND DATA FUSION

APPROVED BY:

Prof. Cem Ersoy	
(Thesis Supervisor)	
Prof. Mehmet Ufuk Çağlayan	
Prof. Hakan Deliç	
Prof. Sema Oktuğ	
Dr. Murat Zeren	

DATE OF APPROVAL: 20.07.2009

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere thanks and immense dept of gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Cem Ersoy and to Prof. Hakan Deliç. I feel very fortunate to have the opportunity to work under their guidance. Without their guidance and support thesis of this type would not come to fruition.

I would also like to express my thanks to Prof. Mehmet Ufuk Çağlayan, Prof. Sema Oktuğ, Prof. Fatih Alagöz, and Dr. Murat Zeren for their contributions on the thesis. I deeply appreciate and acknowledge to each member of NETLAB for their support and contributions.

Not only our intensive studies but also the endless morale and logistics support from my superiors at Turish Naval Research Center Command Capt. Metin Balcı, Capt. Cüneyt Başaran, Capt. Selçuk Karayakaylar, Cdr. Mustafa Lutfi Civelek, Cdr. Necmi Yıldırım, Cdr. Tufan Oruk, Lt-Cdr. Helsin Çevik and my colleagues Lt-Cdr. Ramis Akın, Lt-Cdr. İlker Duranlıoğlu, Lt-Cdr. Refik Tüfekçioğlu, Lt-Cdr. Mustafa Altınkaya, Lt-Cdr. Cihat Eryiğit, Lt-Cdr. M. Serhat Ozaner, Lt-Cdr. Cenk Acar, Lt-Cdr. İlker Şahin, Lt. Murat Üçüncü, Lt. Ekrem Serin, Lt. Selçuk Öztürk, Lt. Asım Tokgöz, Lt. Akif Tokuz, Lt. Serdar Erkan, Eng. Ömer Küçük made this thesis possible.

Above and beyond all, my heartfelt gratitude to my parents, and also my indebtedness towards my wife Defne Önel and my daughter Ece Önel. They have given more than I can say.

This research is partially supported by Scientific and Technical Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) under the grand number 106E082 and also supported by BAP under the grant number 09A101P.

ABSTRACT

NETWORK-CENTRIC WARFARE COMMUNICATIONS WITH WIRELESS SENSOR NETWORKS AND DATA FUSION

In this thesis we aim to design efficient algorithms for wireless ad hoc sensor networks that are supporting network-centric warfare operations. These algorithms should conform to the hard end to end QoS requirements. They should be energy efficient. They should fuse and aggregate data to reduce the network traffic and obtain more accurate assessment of the environment. A particular challenge in the wireless sensor network setting is the need for distributed estimation algorithms which balance the limited energy resource at a node with the cost of communication and sensing. Distributed processing strategies that use a subset of sensor measurements directly mitigate the volume of inter-node communication thereby conserving power. The challenge is to decide in an intelligent manner which sensor measurements to use. In other words, to select a sensor that is likely to provide the greatest improvement to the estimation at the lowest cost.

For target tracking applications, wireless sensor nodes provide accurate information since they can be deployed and operated near the phenomenon. These sensing devices have the opportunity of collaboration among themselves to improve the target localization and tracking accuracies. An energy-efficient collaborative target tracking paradigm is developed for wireless sensor networks (WSNs). A mutual informationbased sensor selection (MISS) algorithm is adopted for participation in the fusion process. MISS allows the sensor nodes with the highest mutual information about the target state to transmit data so that the energy consumption is reduced while the desired target position estimation accuracy is met. In addition, a novel approach to energy savings in WSNs is devised in the information-controlled transmission power adjustment (ICTP), where nodes with more information use higher transmission powers than those that are less informative to share their target state information with the neighboring nodes. Simulations demonstrate the performance gains offered by MISS and ICTP in terms of power consumption and target localization accuracy.

A fully-distributed collaborative multi-target tracking framework that eliminates the need for a central data associator or a central coordinating node for wireless sensor networks is defined. Details of the distributed data association architecture, which is more feasible than the ones relying on a coordinating entity, is described. It is shown that for target tracking applications, the collaboration improves the target localization performance of the distributed data collecting devices. In order to reduce the communication energy exhausted for collaboration, the performance of the collaboration logic manager is examined. Simulation results show that collaborating about a single target information is a rational decision. The problem of deciding which target information to collaborate among the detected targets arises. A mutual information based metric is shown to be a good candidate for deciding on the target which the sensor will collaborate about with the network.

A fuzzy network association algorithm (FUNA) for associating the target report from the neighboring sensor node with a track in the track list is described. The rule base of FUNA is created by consulting to the result of a voting mechanism among the fuzzy variables to support the association decision. Euclid distance, direction difference, and speed difference between the track report from the neighboring sensor node and the track in the track list are the fuzzy variables that support FUNA. It is shown by simulation that FUNA reduces the number of false network associations for the meandering targets. Moreover, better target localization accuracies achieved by FUNA when compared to the Euclid, likelihood, and Mahalanobis distance based network association metrics.

ÖZET

AĞ DESTEKLİ HARP İÇİN TELSİZ DUYARGA DESTEĞİ VE TAKTİK VERİ BİRLESTİRME

Hedef tespit ve izleme uygulamalarında, telsiz muhabere yeteneğine sahip küçük algılayıcılar harekat sahasına çok yakın olarak yerleştirilebildikleri için doğru bilgi sağlarlar. Bu küçük algılayıcılar hedef tespit ve izleme hassasiyetlerini arttırmak için birbirleri ile ortak calışma yeteneğine sahiptirler. Telsiz muhabere yeteneğine sahip küçük algılayıcılar için enerjilerini verimli olarak kullanabildikleri dağıtık bir hedef izleme algoritması geliştirilmiştir. Bu algoritma ile hedefi tespit eden algılayıcılar arasında en fazla bilgiye sahip ve mükerrer bilgi taşımayan algılayıcıların bu bilgilerini komşu algılayıcılar ile paylaşması ile hedef takip doğruluğundan çok fazla kaybetmeden algılayıcı ağın yaşam süresi uzatılmıştır. Dağıtık veri birleştirme mimarisi, algılayıcıların ortak çalışabilmeleri için gerekli altyapıyı sunar. Bu küçük algılayıcıların enerji tahditleri nedeni ile genel bir eğilim, bazı algılayıcıları geçici olarak pasif duruma getirmektir. Enerji tasarrufunu arttırmak amacı ile, karşılıklı en fazla bilgi içeriğine dayalı seçici bir algılayıcı etkinleştirme algoritmasına ek olarak, bilgi içeriği ile kontrol edilen sinyal gönderme gücü ayar düzeni geliştirilmiştir. Müşterek hedef izleme için geliştirilen güç ayar düzeni algoritmasının özü, hedef hakkında daha fazla bilgiye sahip olan algılayıcıların daha az bilgiye sahip olan algılayıcılara göre daha fazla çıkış gücü kullanarak bilgilerini etraflarındaki algılayıcılarla paylaşmaları esasına dayanır. Tek bir hedefin izlenmesi için yapılan çalışmalar birden fazla hedefin izlenmesi için gelistirilmis ve dağıtık çoklu hedef izleme mimarisi önerilmiştir. Önerilen mimariye ait performans testlerinde birden fazla hedefi tespit eden algılayıcıların sadece hakkında en fazla bilgiye sahip olduğu hedef bilgisini komşu algılayıcılarla paylaşmasının enerji tüketimi ve hedef izleme doğruluğu performansları için en doğru karar olduğu sonucuna ulaşılmıştır.

Komşu algılayıcılar tarafından rapor edilen temas bilgilerinin, algılayıcıya ait iz

listesinde mevcut temaslar ile ilişkilendirme probleminin çözümüne yönelik olarak bulanık mantık kullanan bir ağ iz ilişkilendirme algoritması önerilmiştir. Önerilen algoritmada bulanık kurallar, temas ilişkilendirme kararı için kullanılan bulanık değişkenler arasında bir oylama mekanizması kullanılarak oluşturulmuştur. İz listesindeki temas ile komşu algılayıcı tarafından rapor edilen temas arasındaki Euclid mesafesi, olabilirlik ve Mahalanobis mesafesi ilişkilendirme kararını destekleyen bulanık değişkenler olarak kullanılmışlardır. Önerilen algoritmanın, zikzaklı yolalan hedefler için temas ilişkilendirme performansını Euclid, olabilirlik ve Mahalanobis metrikleri kullanılarak yapılan ilişkilendirmelere göre arttırdığı, bunun sonucu olarak hedef takip doğruluğunu arttırdığı benzetim ile gösterilmiştir.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AC	CKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
AE	BSTRACT	iv
ÖZ	ZET	vi
LIS	ST OF FIGURES	x
LIS	ST OF TABLES	XV
LIS	ST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS	xvi
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1. Network-Centric Warfare	12
	1.2. Physical Deployment of the Sensing Entities	15
	1.3. Unique Identity Assignment Problem	16
	1.4. Routing for Sensor Networks	17
	1.5. Data Fusion/Aggregation	18
	1.6. Sensing Options and the Sensor Model	22
2.	DATA PROCESSING ARCHITECTURE	24
	2.1. Process Model	26
	2.2. Observation Model	27
	2.3. Distributed Data Fusion Architecture	29
	2.4. Energy Model	32
3.	MAXIMUM MUTUAL INFORMATION-BASED SENSOR SELECTION AL	-
	GORITHM	34
	3.1. Performance Evaluation of the MISS Algorithm	38
4.	AN INFORMATION-CONTROLLED TRANSMISSION POWER ADJUST	-
	MENT SCHEME	48
	4.1. Performance Evaluation of the ICTP algorithm	52
5.	MULTIPLE SENSOR MULTI-TARGET TRACKING SYSTEM ARCHITEC	-
	TURES	59
6.	COLLABORATIVE DISTRIBUTED MULTI-TARGET TRACKING FRAME	
	WORK	64

6.1. On the Performance of the Collaboration Logic Manager Part of the	
Collaborative Distributed Multi-Target Tracking Framework	68
6.2. Association Problems for Multi-Target Tracking	74
6.3. Fuzzy Network Association	77
6.4. Performance Evaluation of FUNA	81
7. CONCLUSIONS	.00
REFERENCES	.03

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1.	A micro-sensor processor board as compared in size with a coin	2
Figure 1.2.	C4ISR scenario with wireless sensor devices.	6
Figure 1.3.	Information grids for the network-centric warfare operations [1]. $\ .$	14
Figure 2.1.	Time synchronization of sampling and communication periods of the sensor nodes.	26
Figure 2.2.	Target motion model	27
Figure 2.3.	Sensor observation model.	27
Figure 2.4.	Information state calculation.	30
Figure 2.5.	Information matrix calculation.	31
Figure 3.1.	Target tracking algorithm employed by a detecting sensor node. $% \left({{{\mathbf{x}}_{i}},{{\mathbf{y}}_{i}}} \right)$.	36
Figure 3.2.	Integrated processor board, MIR board, MIR antenna board, and battery [2]	39
Figure 3.3.	Integrated circuit boards of the MIR [2]	40
Figure 3.4.	Packed MIR [3]	40
Figure 3.5.	Target trajectory as seen by the sensor node represented with a solid dot (\bullet) in the 300-sensor scenario	43

Figure 3.6.	Mean error comparison for the sparse scenario	44
Figure 3.7.	Mean error comparison for the dense scenario	44
Figure 3.8.	Comparison of the consumed energy for the sparse scenario	46
Figure 3.9.	Comparison of the consumed energy for the desired target localiza- tion accuracies for the sparse scenario	46
Figure 3.10.	Comparison of the consumed energy for the desired target localiza- tion accuracies for the dense scenario	47
Figure 4.1.	Block diagram of the sensor node employing the MISS and ICTP algorithms	49
Figure 4.2.	Power adjustment patterns	50
Figure 4.3.	Pseudo-code of the MISS/ICTP algorithm running on a sensor node described in Fig. 4.1	55
Figure 4.4.	Mean consumed communication energy if any sensor node in the network can be queried	56
Figure 4.5.	Mean target localization error for different power adjustment pat- terns if any sensor node in the network can be queried	56
Figure 4.6.	Effect of power adjustment on the consumed energy for the desired target localization accuracies if any sensor node in the network can be queried	57
Figure 4.7.	Mean consumed communication energy if the most informative sen- sor node is queried.	57

Figure 4.8.	Target localization error for different power adjustment patterns if the most informative sensor node is queried.	58
Figure 4.9.	Effect of power adjustment on the consumed energy for the desired target localization accuracies if the most informative sensor node is queried.	58
Figure 5.1.	Multi-sensor multi-target tracking architectures	59
Figure 5.2.	Exhausted energy comparison of the multi-sensor multi-target track- ing architectures.	62
Figure 5.3.	Mean error comparison of the multi-sensor multi-target tracking architectures.	63
Figure 6.1.	Distributed multi-target tracking framework	65
Figure 6.2.	The algorithm of a sensor node to implement the distributed multi- target tracking framework.	69
Figure 6.3.	Illustration of the valley bottom type strip simulation scenario	70
Figure 6.4.	Mean target localization error of a sensor node	70
Figure 6.5.	Mean exhausted energy of a sensor node	71
Figure 6.6.	Mean target localization error of a sensor node compared to the non-collaborative tracking error.	72
Figure 6.7.	Mean exhausted energy of a sensor node compared to the non- collaborative exhausted energy	73

Figure 6.8.	Membership functions of the Euclid distance	79
Figure 6.9.	Membership functions of the velocity difference	79
Figure 6.10.	Membership functions of the direction difference	80
Figure 6.11.	Output membership function	80
Figure 6.12.	FUNA tracking scenario for seven targets.	83
Figure 6.13.	Total number of true network associations for the seven targets scenario.	84
Figure 6.14.	Total number of false network associations for the seven targets scenario.	85
Figure 6.15.	Mean target localization error for the seven targets scenario. $\ . \ .$	85
Figure 6.16.	Mean track list length for the seven targets scenario	86
Figure 6.17.	Total number of false network associations throughout the 50 sec- onds scenario.	88
Figure 6.18.	Minimum, maximum and median values for the total number of false network associations in the seven targets scenario	89
Figure 6.19.	Minimum, maximum and median values for the mean target local- ization errors in the seven targets scenario.	90
Figure 6.20.	Scenario of 10 targets in the 50 m \times 500 m simulation area	92
Figure 6.21.	Total number of false network associations for 10 targets scenario.	93

Figure 6.22.	Mean target localization error for the 10 targets scenario	93
Figure 6.23.	Total number of false network associations throughout 300 seconds for the 10 targets scenario.	94
Figure 6.24.	Total number of true network associations throughout 300 seconds for the 10 targets scenario.	94
Figure 6.25.	Viewpoint of the sensor at (10,16) for the mean dering targets. $\ .$.	95
Figure 6.26.	Viewpoint of the sensor at (138,6) for the mean dering targets. $\ .$.	96
Figure 6.27.	Viewpoint of the sensor at (292,7) for the mean dering targets. $\ .$.	96
Figure 6.28.	Total number of false network associations for the meandering tar- gets scenario.	97
Figure 6.29.	Total number of true network associations for the meandering tar- gets scenario.	98
Figure 6.30.	Total number of false network associations throughout the 300 sec- onds for the meandering targets scenario	98
Figure 6.31.	Total number of true network associations throughout the 300 sec- onds for the meandering targets scenario.	99

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1.	Strengths and weaknesses of the sensor types	22
Table 3.1.	Shadow fading communication model parameters	41
Table 6.1.	Hypothesis matrix for the association of the three new observations with the two existing tracks.	76
Table 6.2.	Rule classes corresponding to the voting results	81
Table 6.3.	Fuzzy rules in the knowledge base	82
Table 6.4.	Number of true and false network associations, mean target local- ization error, and mean sensor track list length for the scenario of tracking seven targets	84
Table 6.5.	Significance for the number of false associations.	86
Table 6.6.	Significance for the mean target localization error.	86
Table 6.7.	Total number of true and false network associations, mean target localization error, and the mean sensor track list length for the 300 seconds scenario.	92
Table 6.8.	Total number of true and false network associations, mean target localization error, and the mean sensor track list length for the	
	meandering targets.	97

LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS

b	Number of bits
cpu	Central processing unit
$d_{i,j}$	Distance between the sensor nodes i and j
D_M	Mahalanobis distance
E_T	Total number of targets in the surveillance area
\mathbf{F}	Target state transition matrix
\mathbf{H}_m	Observation matrix of an arbitrary sensor node
\mathbf{i}_m	Information state denomination(contribution) related with
\mathbf{I}_m	the observation of an arbitrary sensor node Information matrix denomination(contribution) related with
$\mathbf{I}_{m,n}$	the observation of an arbitrary sensor node Estimate of sensor S_m about the information matrix denomi- nation of sensor S_n
J_m	The mutual information gained with the observation of an arbitrary sensor node
$J_{m,n}$	Estimate the sensor S_m about the mutual information value
	of all its neighboring sensor S_n
$\mathcal{J}_m(k)$	Ordered set of mutual information values as predicted by the
	sensor node S_m at time instant k
${\cal J}_m'(k)$	Ordered set of N_{max} mutual information values as predicted
k	by the sensor node S_m at time instant k Time instant index
\mathbf{L}_S	Position of an arbitrary sensor
m	Sensor index
$N_{ m max}$	Maximum number of sensors that can communicate
N_T	Total number of sensors in the surveillance area
O_n	An arbitrary observation of an arbitrary sensor node
P_{ℓ}	Communication transmission power level of an arbitrary sen-
\mathbf{P}_m	sor node Posterior target state estimation error covariance of an arbi-
	trary sensor node

\mathbf{Q}	Covariance of the target movement noise
r_m	Ground truth range of the target from an arbitrary sensor
$r_{m,d}$	node Range of the target measured from an arbitrary sensor node
\mathbf{R}_m	Covariance matrix of the observation errors in the observed
	mean target state after the unbiased polar-to-Cartesian con-
$\mathbf{R}_{m,n}$	version Estimate of sensor S_m about the covariance matrix of the
	observation errors by sensor S_n
\tilde{r}_m	Measurement error of the range of the target
RX_i	Energy consumed by a sensor i in receiving a b-bit data packet
S	Time slot
S_m	An arbitrary sensor node
$\mathcal{S}_m(k)$	Set of neighboring sensors of sensor S_m at time instant k
$\mathcal{S}_m'(k)$	Set of neighboring sensors of sensor S_m that can communicate
T_s	at time instant k An arbitrary target
$TX_{i,j}$	Energy consumed by a sensor i in transmitting a b-bit data
v	packet to sensor j Target movement noise
x	Real target state
$\hat{\mathbf{x}}_m$	Target state estimate of an arbitrary sensor node
$\hat{\mathbf{y}}_m$	Information state related with the target state estimate of an
\mathbf{Y}_m	arbitrary sensor node Information matrix related with the target state estimate of
$\mathbf{Y}_{m,n}$	an arbitrary sensor node S_m 's estimate of S_n 's information matrix
ε_{amp}	Energy consumed for the transmitter amplifier
ε_{elec}	Energy consumed to run the transmitter or receiver circuitry
ζ	Target maneuvering index
η	Vertical position of the target

the target ${\cal T}_s$

 \mathbf{P}_s

$\eta^c_{m,d}$	Vertical position of the target after the unbiased polar-to-
$\dot{\eta}$	Cartesian conversion Vertical speed of the target
$ heta_m$	Ground truth bearing of the target from an arbitrary sensor
$ heta_{m,d}$	node Bearing of the target measured from an arbitrary sensor node
$ ilde{ heta}_m$	Measurement error of the bearing of the target
$oldsymbol{\mu}_m$	Average true bias in the unbiased polar-to-Cartesian conver-
ξ	sion Horizontal position of the target
$\xi^c_{m,d}$	Horizontal position of the target after the unbiased polar-to-
έ	Cartesian conversion Horizontal speed of the target
$\sigma_{ heta_m}$	Standard deviation of the observation errors of a sensor node
σ_{r_m}	in bearing Standard deviation of the observation errors of a sensor node
$oldsymbol{arphi}_m$	in range Observed mean target state after the unbiased polar-to- Cartesian conversion
APTEEN	Adaptive threshold sensitive energy efficient sensor network
C4ISR	protocol Command, control, communications, computer, intelligence,
CEC	surveillance and reconnaissance Cooperative engagement capability
CSIP	Collaborative signal and information processing
DDF	Distributed data fusion architecture
DHCP	Dynamic host configuration protocol
GEAR	Geographic and energy aware routing
FOA	Focus of attention
FUNA	Fuzzy network association
GCCS	Global command and control system
HAM	Hybrid association model
ICTP	Information controlled transmission power

IDSQ	Information driven sensor querying
IP	Internet Protocol
JPDA	Joint probabilistic data association
LEACH	Low energy adaptive clustering hierarchy
MC	Monte carlo
MECN	Minimum energy communication network
MHT	Multiple hypothesis testing
MIR	Micropower impulse radar
MISN	Most informative sensor node
MISS	Mutual information-based sensor selection
ML	maximum likelihood
NCW	Network-centric warfare
NN	Nearest neighbor
PEGASIS	Power efficient gathering in sensor information systems
QoS	Quality of service
SMECN	Small minimum energy communication network
SPIN	Sensor protocols for information via negotiation
TEEN	Threshold sensitive energy efficient sensor network protocol
TEWASA	Thread evaluation weapon allocation sensor assignment
UAV	Unmanned aerial vehicle
WSN	Wireless sensor network

1. INTRODUCTION

Network-Centric Warfare(NCW) is an attempt to effectively link all the elements of the warfighting enterprise to achieve the improved situation awareness, rapidity, and accuracy. NCW provides broader vision of the vicinity for the warfighting platforms than the one Platform Centric Warfare provides. Even a missile, contributes to the situation observations of the enterprise, until the time of its explosion at the target. Today's missiles have their own sensors on board to cruise towards the target and to improve the probability of hit. In NCW, the data that the missile observes during its travel towards the target is conveyed to the command and control center and fused with the existing information about the vicinity. Improved situation information is sent back to the missile and other related entities in the enterprise. Main difficulty in achieving the NCW is the problem of interoperability. Most modules aiming Network-Centric Warfare exists. However, a Network-Centric Warfare enterprise is envisioned in 2010 and beyond [1].

Advances in wireless communication, digital electronics, and embedded systems have led to the development of new generation ad hoc networks, namely wireless sensor networks (WSNs). Emerging WSNs with hundreds to several thousands of small sized, low cost, low power micro-sensor nodes deployed into an area of interest, enables us to sample the parameters of interest throughout the sensor field in a distributed manner. Micro-sensor nodes in a WSN are capable of collecting, processing, and storing the ambient information and communicating with the neighboring nodes in the wireless medium. A micro-sensor node is mainly comprised of a sensing unit, a processing unit, a transceiver unit, and a power unit. A typical micro-sensor processor board has a processor at 4 megahertz, 8 bit microcontroller, 128K on board flash memory, and 512K nonvolatile flash memory [4]. A sample micro-sensor processor board as compared in size with a coin is shown in Fig. 1.1. Wireless micro-sensor devices, with the duty of tracking a target, have two main functionalities. The first one is the distributed detection of the presence of a target and the estimation of the parameters of interest related with the target state. The second task involves wireless networking to organize and



Figure 1.1. A micro-sensor processor board as compared in size with a coin.

carry information. Distributed detection and estimation have long been studied in the literature. Problems related to the wireless networking issues are also addressed extensively. However, there are not much work done on how wireless networking constraints affect the distributed detection and estimation duty of the wireless smart sensor networking devices. We aim to address this issue and to derive a formal understanding of how wireless networking constraints affect the distributed detection and estimation task and derive algorithms remedy the deficiencies.

Wireless sensors observing the diverse properties of the environment form an ad hoc network to convey their observations towards an evaluator entity. Diverse observations from the phenomenon provide better accuracies. For example, a radar sensor provides accurate range but poor angle data while infrared provides accurate angle but poor range data. Moreover, altitude information of the target can best be obtained from an optic sensor. Fusing these range, bearing, and elevation information from diverse sensors provides more accurate positioning of a track. Even for the similar sensor types, the different viewing angles of the physically distributed sensors can provide better target localization data. Furthermore, multiple sensors provide more robust performance due to their inherent redundancy. It is crucial for the real time decision support systems, especially for a tactical defense system, to make fast decisions with limited resources. Though the evidences may be collected from many possibly allocated sensors with varying capabilities, it is important to avoid unnecessary or unproductive sensor actions and computations [5]. The more informative evidence is the one that decreases the uncertainty of the hypothesis more. Access to the information requires costs such as the cost of information retrieval, time delay and extra computation time.

Selecting a sensor that is likely to provide the greatest improvement to the estimation at the lowest cost is named as the sensor selection problem or the sensor scheduling problem in the literature. Reducing sensing interference for active sensors, reducing communication interference, improving sensor lifetime are the motivations for the sensor selection or scheduling algorithms. Sensor scheduling problem was cast as a non-linear deterministic control problem and shown to be solvable by a tree-search in general [6]. Also dynamic programming and gradient method for obtaining a solution were proposed. To deal with the complexity of tree-search, greedy algorithms have been proposed [7, 8, 9].

Compared to the centralized fusion, distributed fusion is a much less mature area of research. It is well known that in standard non-cooperative distributed detection problems correlation in the input statistics can both help and hurt the detection performance [10]. The goal of this work was to characterize general methods which exploit helpful statistical dependencies with the overall aim of further developing the understanding of distributed cooperative detection, classification, and tracking systems.

In [11], the information graph is introduced as a way of modeling information flow in distributed fusion systems. One of the central issues for Collaborative Signal and Information Processing (CSIP) to address is the energy constrained dynamic sensor collaboration.

Given the current belief state, we wish to incrementally update the belief by incorporating measurements of other nearby sensors. However, among all available sensors in the network, not all provide useful information that improves the estimate. Furthermore, some information might be useful, but redundant. The task is to select an optimal subset and decide on an optimal order of how to incorporate these measurements into our belief update. Due to the distributed nature of the sensor networks, this selection has to be done without the explicit knowledge of the measurement residing at each individual sensor. The decision has to be made based on the sensor characteristics such as the sensor position or sensing modality, and the predicted contributions of these sensors.

Example sensor selection strategies from the literature are minimizing the Euclid distance (nearest-neighbor), blind, minimizing the Mahalanobis distance, minimizing the entropy, maximizing the Kullback-Leibner distance (relative entropy) between predicted belief and expected belief [12]. In [13, 14], authors propose a sensor selection methodology based on fuzzifying the sensor characteristics and sensor reliability. They show that by choosing more reliable sensors, less error in the mobile robot localization problem is achieved when compared to using all the sensor contributions.

Previous work on data aggregation for wireless sensor networks focuses on the networking aspect like minimizing the total network flow. Aggregation trees are formed to remedy the problem. We examine the approaches to the data fusion/aggregation problem in Section 1.5. We also discuss in the same section, how emerging wireless sensor devices benefit from data fusion.

Without insight into questions like," What should the detectors transmit and to whom?" the design of sensor networks will likely remain ad-hoc. This work ultimately aims to provide insight into these types of problems.

Target tracking, or processing of the measurements obtained from a target in order to maintain estimates of its current and future states, has major importance in Command, Control, Communications, Computer, Intelligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance (C4ISR) applications [15, 16]. Due to environmental perturbations, data collected near the phenomenon are more reliable than those obtained far from it. Emerging wireless sensor technologies facilitate the tracking of targets just within the phenomenon. In Fig. 1.2, small-sized, battery-operated, wireless communicating sensor devices are deployed very close to the hostile environment, and they are used for distributed sampling of signals from the target of interest in a C4ISR application. An unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV) patrolling above the area of surveillance relays the target position that is obtained from the sensor network towards the command and control center, where the Threat Evaluation, Weapon Assignment and Sensor Allocation (TEWASA) function takes place [17, 18]. If the reported target is evaluated as a threat, then the most appropriate weapon is assigned to that target. At that moment, a firing channel between the wireless sensor network (WSN), UAV, command and control center, and the weapon is formed. The target position, where the weapon is to be directed, is fed continuously to the weapon via the firing channel. Command and control center monitors the communication delay in the firing channel in order to maintain the appropriate extrapolation about the target position. In the area of operation, units such as the soldier in Fig. 1.2 may need rapid and roughly accurate target position information. The soldier near the sensor field has limited communication capability when compared to the rocket launcher truck. Hence, the best the soldier can do is to ask a sensor node nearby him about the target position. The sensor node, with its current knowledge of the target state, immediately responds to the soldier's query. In this scenario, the rocket launcher truck obtains the target state information from the communication link composed of a sink node, UAV, and the command and control center. The target state information obtained by the rocket launcher truck is more accurate than that collected by the soldier. However, the soldier has the target state information more rapidly than the rocket launcher truck. With a distributed data fusion (DDF) architecture, benefiting from the far-reaching communication range of the sensor node compared to its detection range, we aim to have an acceptable target position information to be available at every sensor node. The reason is that the soldier may query any one of the sensor nodes that is close to him for an immediate and acceptably accurate target position information. The wireless communication characteristics of the emerging wireless sensor nodes provide an excellent distributed coordination mechanism to improve the global target localization accuracies in the WSN. Sensor nodes in the surveillance area, collaboratively monitor the tracks in the vicinity using



Figure 1.2. C4ISR scenario with wireless sensor devices.

distributed target tracking algorithms. Moreover, collaborated target position information is sent continuously to the command and control center for further investigation, analysis, and integration with other information sources. Collaborated target position information at each sensor node is also available for an interested querying unit.

Collaborative target tracking brings along questions such as how to dynamically determine who should sense, what needs to be sensed, and whom the information must be passed on to [19]. Sensor collaboration improves

- 1. Detection quality: Detection resolution, sensitivity, dynamic range, missed and false alarms, response latency.
- 2. Track quality: Tracking errors, track length, robustness against sensing gaps.
- 3. Scalability: Size of network, number of events, number of active queries.
- 4. Survivability: Robustness against node/link failures.

5. Resource usage: Power/bandwidth consumption.

As an example, collaborative beamforming is used in [20] to localize acoustical sources. A Bayesian approach to detecting and tracking multiple targets using acoustic data from multiple passive arrays is presented in [21]. In [22], a circular detection region is obtained by equipping each sensor node with several ultrasonic sensors. Sensor nodes in WSNs are battery-operated, which puts an energy constraint on their operation lifetimes. Reducing the energy exhausted by the nodes improves the duration of the time over which the sensor network's surveillance duty is carried out. In order to conserve the valuable battery power of the wireless devices, a common trend is to put some of the sensor nodes into a dormant state, which is controlled by a sleep schedule [23, 24]. Moreover, only a subset of the sensor nodes are active at any instant of time to also avoid redundant data flow in the network. Sensor activation strategies can be listed as *naive activation* in which all the sensor nodes are active, *randomized acti*vation in which a random subset of the sensor nodes are active, selective activation in which a subset of the sensor nodes are chosen according to some performance measure, and *duty-cycled activation* in which the sensor nodes are active for some duty cycle and in dormant state thereafter. There is an inevitable trade-off between the energy expenditure and the tracking quality in sensor networks [25].

Distance of the sensor node to the target is used in the activation decision in [26]. In information driven sensor querying (IDSQ) [19,27], the so-called clusterheads decide on the sensor nodes that are to participate actively in the tracking task. In [28], a dual-space paradigm is presented in which the subset of nodes towards whom the target is approaching are selected to be active. Clusters are formed dynamically around the high-capability sensor nodes in [29]. In the location-centric approach to collaborative sensing and tracking, addressing and communication is performed among geographic regions within the network rather than individual nodes [30,31]. This makes localized selective-activation strategies simpler to implement. In [32], a selective sensor activation scheme is proposed in which the activation decision is based on the adaptive activation radius around the predicted position of the target. The proposed activation radius in [32] is inversely proportional to the tracking quality. Prediction-based target

tracking techniques such as the Pheromones, Bayesian, and Extended Kalman Filter are presented in [33, 34], and a real implementation can be found in [35]. Multiple target tracking is examined in [36, 37, 38, 39].

Censoring sensors [40, 41, 42, 43, 44] is one approach to control the network traffic load. Sensor nodes that are deemed as non-informative do not send their decisions or observations if their local likelihood ratio falls in a certain single interval. A special case of this phenomenon occurs when the lower bound of the no-send interval is zero. In this particular case, the problem reduces to sending the local decision/observation if the local likelihood ratio is above some threshold. A deficiency with this approach occurs for tracking applications if all the sensor node local likelihood ratios fall in the no-send region, and no belief about the target state is shared among the nodes.

We concentrate on the WSN part of the C4ISR application depicted in Fig. 1.2. Sensor nodes try to collaboratively maintain accurate target position and speed estimates to report to the UAV or to an interrogator in an energy efficient manner. We first consider the problem of tracking a single target using immobile sensor nodes that collaborate with each other through a broadcast communication mechanism. With collaboration among the sensor nodes, we aim to improve the target localization accuracy achieved by each sensor node. Moreover, we try to retrieve the target location from the network with low delay by querying any one of the nodes in the network. Collaborative target tracking makes it possible for each sensor node in the network to have an acceptable localization accuracy. As an extreme case, if there were no communication constraints, in other words, if every sensor node could communicate with every other node in the network, then the posterior target position information after the collaboration would be the same value for all nodes. The above-mentioned capability of the collaborative target tracking framework eliminates the need for a sink node inside the sensor network to collect the target position estimates of the neighboring sensor nodes. Any node that can be communicated within a single hop is a neighbor.

Previous research [45,46,47] has focused on how to provide full or partial sensing coverage in the context of energy conservation. Nodes stay in a dormant state as long as their neighbors can provide sensing coverage for them. These solutions regard the sensing coverage of a certain geographic area as binary, i.e., coverage is either provided, or not [23]. They consider the sensor selection problem only in terms of coverage and energy-saving aspects, without paying attention to detection and tracking quality. In tracking applications, when selecting the subset of sensor nodes to contribute to the global decision, we have to consider how informative the sensor nodes are about the state of the target.

In [27, 48], the sensor node which will result in the smallest expected posterior uncertainty of the target state is chosen as the next node to contribute to the decision. Specifically, minimizing the expected posterior uncertainty is equivalent to maximizing the mutual information between the sensor node output and the target state [48]. An entropy-based sensor selection heuristic is proposed for target localization in [49] where a sensor node is chosen in each step and the observation of that node is incorporated into the target location distribution using sequential Bayesian filtering. An information utility description for bearing-only sensors is proposed in [50,51]. The proposed method does not require the estimation of the posteriori distribution of the target state and thus reduces the computational overhead.

The information state is a function of the real target state and the information matrix is a function of the target state uncertainty, i.e., target state covariance. The contribution of the sensor node to the information state is called its information state denomination. Similarly, the contribution of a sensor node to the information matrix is called its information matrix denomination.

Multiple sensor nodes usually perceive similar observations about the target state, which results in an inherent redundancy of sensory data. We develop an energy-efficient collaborative target tracking paradigm for wireless sensor networks (WSNs). To that end, the network lifetime is prolonged and the desired tracking accuracy is maintained by selecting a subset of sensor nodes that are the most informative in the mutual information sense. In addition to the selective sensor activation strategy based on the maximum mutual information, with a novel approach to energy savings in WSNs, we devise a transmission power adjustment scheme whose essence lies behind the idea that the sensor nodes with more information should use higher transmission powers in order to share their information about the target state with their neighbors than those that are less informative.

Sensor nodes share with the other nodes in the WSN their information state and the information matrix denomination values, which are obtained from the collected target location data. With this mechanism, a collaboration among the sensor nodes is maintained in order to improve the target location estimate. Another possibility is to share the location of the target with the WSN after local information filtering. The latter paradigm in the sensor collaboration requires more complicated fusion operations as described in [52,53], whereas the former provides a simple additive fusion framework within the distributed architecture.

The multi-target tracking problem differs from the standard state estimation problem by the fact that the measurement origin is also uncertain. Problems related with the multi-target tracking phenomenon mainly focus on the association problem. There are several types of associations to deal with. The sensor-to-track association is studied in [54] as the *Focus of Attention* (FOA) problem, plot-to-plot association is named as the track initiation, plot-to-track association is named as track update/track continuation, and finally track-to-track association is named as track fusion [55]. Trackto-track association deals with how to decide whether two tracks coming from different sensors represent the same target, and if so the next problem is how to combine (fuse) the two track estimates together.

Data association algorithms in the literature can be classified as follows: nearest neighbor (NN) hypothesis testing, multiple hypothesis testing (MHT) [56] [57], and joint probabilistic data association (JPDA) [58, 59]. NN hypothesis testing assumes that the measurement closest to the center of the validation gate represents the target. MHT exhaustively enumerates all the possible hypotheses over a number of most recent frames and chooses the most likely one. JPDA makes the assumption that the nearest detection from the extrapolated target estimate may not always originate from the target and that other detections which are farther away may be the real measurement. To account for this, the JPDA algorithm assigns certain probabilities to the latest set of measurements within a gate. The distributed versions of the JPDA algorithm for a hierarchical architecture and that of MHT are given in [60] and [61,62], respectively. Monte Carlo (MC) implementation of JPDA algorithm is presented in [63] as a simplified version of JPDA for WSNs.

The optimal track-to-track fusion formula derived in [64] to combine the local estimates is a maximum likelihood (ML) estimator [65], and it has larger error than the optimal method with centralized configuration [66]. It was shown in [66] that as the number of sensors increases, the performance of distributed tracking keeps degrading in comparison to the centralized one. In this context, distributed tracking describes the local sensors' data processing capability. In centralized configuration, sensors send their observation to a data collecting center. Association, based on the received sensor measurements, is carried out at the center. In the distributed configuration, local sensors process their observations to form their local tracks and local associations. The sensor-level processor outputs are sent to the data collecting center, which further processes these preprocessed data.

Track initiation problem and associating the sensor measurements with the target tracks are the main difficulties in the multi-target tracking phenomena. The problem is even more challenging in the context of sensor networks, since association is coupled across the network. Chen et al. [39] propose a solution to the distributed data association based on the graphical models by means of the message passing algorithm in which iterative, parallel exchange of information among the neighboring nodes is required. Zhu et al. [67] applied this graphical model for the solution of the track to track association problem. In [61], the problem of jointly tracking and classifying several targets within a sensor network is examined. The solution requires only one sensor to be active and focused on a target. However, possible existence of other targets is ignored.

In existing research, the distributed data association takes place in a center to

which the distributed units send their collected and processed data. We envision a fully distributed data association architecture in which every single node collaborates with its neighbors and does data association. In other words, sensor nodes share the data association task. This approach is more feasible than the ones that rely on a coordinating entity for the sensor network applications.

In Section 1.1, we briefly discuss the Network-Centric Warfare, in Section 1.2, we examine the problem of physical deployment of the sensing entities, in Section 1.3 unique identity assignment problem is examined, in Section 1.4, routing for sensor networks is examined, Section 1.5, describes the data fusion/aggregation problem, in Section 1.6, we describe the sensing options and the sensor model, in Chapter 2, we describe the DDF architecture. Then, in Chapter 3, mutual information-based sensor selection algorithm (MISS) for participation in the fusion process is defined. Information-controlled transmission power (ICTP) scheme is introduced in Chapter 4. In Chapter 5, we describe the multi-sensor multi-target tracking system architectures. In Chapter 6, we describe our multitarget tracking framework for WSNs. Performance of the collaboration logic in the proposed framework is examined in Section 6.1, in Section 6.2, we discuss the association problems of the multi-target tracking architectures, in Section 6.3, we describe a fuzzy network association algorithm (FUNA), in Section 6.4, we evaluate the performance of FUNA. In Chapter 7, we conclude our work, and give some directions towards future research.

1.1. Network-Centric Warfare

The Network-Centric Warfare (NCW) concept calls for an autonomous rather than hierarchic, decision making process, based on ubiquitous access to information by distributed entities [1]. NCW is an approach to the conduct of warfare that derives its power from the effectively linking or networking of the warfighting enterprise. NCW provides shared battlespace awareness and shared commander intend.

Command and control consists of six main phases these are; sensing, fusing, understanding, deciding, conveying the decisions, and acting (execution). Battlespace entities to serve these phases of the command control are the sensing entities, deciding entities, and acting entities. Sensing entities consist of every kind of diverse sensors from high capacity, high performance phase array radars to disposable, low power, low cost mote sensors. Deciding entities have the common situation information. Using this situation information, deciding entity is responsible for the threat evaluation weapon assignment and sensor a allocation (TEWASA) [17, 18]. Also, fire control problem is solved at the deciding entities. Physical positioning of the deciding entities is another design problem. The weapons are the acting entities. Today's platform centric warfare, tightly couples the sensing entities to the acting entities. In other words certain sensors are related to the certain actuators. Sensors on one platform provide the situation awareness to its own platform. Actuators on the platform can develop engagement to the targets obtained from the own platform sensors. In contrast, network-centric warfare decouples the sensors and the actuators. Any actuator on any platform can develop engagement to any target obtained from any sensor. Network-centric warfare obviously increases the engagement capability of any platform. The actuators on the platform can now engage any target even if it is not obtained from the own platform sensors. Actuator can receive the track information from the remote platform sensors. Network-centric warfare also provides enhanced situation awareness to all the platforms and remote command and control center namely headquarter. The information source is now diverse and shared among the warfighting entities. Dimensions of the information are the relevance, accuracy, and timeliness. Hence, timely, relevant, and accurate information is too valuable to the warfighting entities.

In [68] a hierarchical communication architecture to convey the battlefield awareness information towards headquarters is proposed. This architecture also conveys the headquarters intention and commands to the actuators in the battlefield. Sensors and actuators at the battlefield form the mobile subsystem of the communication architecture. Above the mobile subsystem, maneuver network in which the special nodes to form the ad hoc infrastructure. Above the maneuver network tier is the airborne network as an umbrella tier, where the manned or unmanned aerial vehicle exists. Finally, the satellite network provides ubiquitous coverage for the sensors and the actors.



Figure 1.3. Information grids for the network-centric warfare operations [1].

Networked sensing offers unique advantages over traditional centralized approaches [69]. Dense networks of distributed networked sensors can provide improved Signal to Noise Ratio because of decreased average distance from the target, increased energy efficiency by multihop topology, in network processing, improved robustness and scalability.

The fog of battle is about the uncertainty associated with what is going on while the friction of war is about the difficulty in translating the commander's intend into actions. The changing character of modern conflicts leads to the need for a networkcentric approach to warfare, in which information, including a timely picture of the situation, is made available to multiple distributed entities using multiple grids of differing quality of service.

Fig. 1.3 depicts the multiple information grids envisioned for the network-centric warfare operations; the engagement grid, awareness grid, and the planning grid [1]. The engagement grid is the most sensitive grid in terms of Quality of Service (QoS). This grid forms the joint composite tracking network and it is for weapon direction. Delay

constraint for engagement grid is in sub-seconds. The middle layer is the awareness grid. This grid forms the joint data network and it is for common tactical picture. Delay constraint for awareness grid is in seconds. Finally the least delay sensitive grid in terms of QoS is the planning grid. This grid forms the joint planning network and it is for common operational picture. Delay constraint for planning grid is in minutes.

We partition the task of network-centric warfare into subtasks. These subtasks are; the physical deployment of the sensing entities, unique identity assignment to the involving entities, routing of situation information from the sensing entities to the deciding entities, data fusion and aggregation on the way to the deciding entity, and data fusion and aggregation at the deciding entity, deciding to an action according to the current observed situation, routing of decision from the deciding entities to the acting entities. There are also some integral tasks like, temporal and spatial synchronization of the involving entities.

1.2. Physical Deployment of the Sensing Entities

The physical positioning of the sensors effects coverage, communication cost, and resource management. The easiest technique to deploy sensors is the random deployment. However, more intelligent techniques for the initial deployment of sensors and the deployment tuning are required. In [70, 71, 72], the authors propose a tuning algorithm on the random initial sensor deployment based on the virtual attractive and repulsive forces. In this algorithm, sensors exert a repulsive force to each other if they are located closer than a threshold distance and an attractive force if they are located far from a distance threshold. The sensor deployment and sensor planning scheme proposed in [73] is suitable for the cases where we have priori knowledge about possible targets to be monitored. In the scheme proposed in [74], sensors are deployed in an incremental manner. That is they are deployed one by one in an adaptive fashion. In [75], an optimal polynomial time algorithm that uses graph theory and computational geometry constructs is used to determine the best case and the worst case coverage. Sensor placement on two and three dimensional grids has been formulated as a combinatorial optimization problem and solved using integer linear programming in [76,77]. The authors in [78] propose a method for optimally locating the radars to achieve satisfactory surveillance with limited resources. A probabilistic optimization framework for minimizing the number of sensors for a two dimensional grid has been proposed in [79].

1.3. Unique Identity Assignment Problem

We should have a way to uniquely address the entities in the network-centric warfare enterprise. Traditional networks rely on centralized servers like Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol (DHCP) server. However, in a mobile ad hoc network, the DHCP functionality should be distributed among the participating units. This framework should support the joining of a node to the network and the departure of a node from the network. We can classify the approaches to the unique identity assignment problem in mobile ad hoc networks into three groups; IPV6 stateless auto configuration mechanism [80], flooding the entire network [81,82], and distributing the IP addresses to be assigned among the nodes [83,84,85].

Flooding the entire network is a reactive approach. Distributing the IP addresses to be assigned, among the nodes is a proactive approach. Both approaches have pros and cons. The former approach suffers from the efficiency and the scalability due to the extensive flooding in the network. The later approach is vulnerable to the fraudulent nodes. In the later approach, each participating node in the network has a pool of identities to assign to a new coming node.

In the flooding approach, again two alternative strategies exists. First, the new coming node chooses its identification randomly and agrees with the network that it can use that identification. The second strategy is that the network converges on an identification to assign to the new coming node.

In the vertical traffic flow, traffic flows towards a sink instead of two peer nodes, and from sink to downwards. In wireless sensor networks that are in duty of sensing the close phenomena, we mostly do not need to address sensors uniquely. The sensor networks mostly involve in an attribute or location based addressing scheme with a vertical traffic flow.

1.4. Routing for Sensor Networks

Since, wireless sensing equipments contain limited power capacity, routing algorithms for the wireless sensor networks should be energy aware. Data delivery to the sink node can be continuous, event driven, query driven, or some combinations of these. Proposed routing algorithms for the wireless sensor networks can mainly be classified into three groups; data centric routing, hierarchical routing, and location based routing.

Data centric routing protocols are query based and they depend on the naming of the desired data. Data centric routing protocols help in eliminating many redundant transmissions. Hierarchical protocols aim at clustering the nodes so that the cluster heads can do some aggregation and reduction of data in order to save energy. Location based protocols utilize the position information to relay the data to the desired regions rather than the whole network.

We do not need to give a unique identity to each sensor for the data centric routing protocols. Routing is done by the attribute based naming. Two approaches to the data centric routing exist. First, the sensing entities advertise their data and the sink nodes concerning the advertised data create queries. Second, the sink nodes generate queries on demand and sensing entities having the queried data send their data towards the sink node. Former approach is called the Sensor Protocols for Information via Negotiation (SPIN) [86]. The later approach is called directed diffusion [87]. Many variants of the directed diffusion approach exist in the literature [27,88,89,90,91,92,93].

The aim of the hierarchical routing is to efficiently maintain the energy consumption of sensor nodes by involving them in multi-hop communication within a particular cluster and by performing data aggregation and fusion in order to decrease the number of transmitted messages to the sink. Cluster formation is typically based
on the energy reserve of sensors and sensor's proximity to the cluster head [94] [95]. Hierarchical routing protocols proposed in the literature are; Low Energy Adaptive Clustering Hierarchy (LEACH) [96], Power Efficient GAthering in Sensor Information Systems (PEGASIS) [97], Hierarchical PEGASIS [98], Threshold sensitive Energy Efficient sensor Network protocol (TEEN) [90], Adaptive Threshold sensitive Energy Efficient sensor Network protocol (APTEEN) [99], Energy aware routing for cluster based sensor networks [100], self organizing protocol [101].

Location based protocols exploit the advantage of location awareness of the sensing and the querying nodes. Using the location information, these protocols reduce the number of messages transmitted. Examples of the location based protocols in the literature are, Minimum Energy Communication Network (MECN) [102], Small Minimum Energy Communication Network (SMECN) [103], Geographic Adaptive Fidelity [104], Geographic and Energy Aware Routing (GEAR) [105].

There are some routing protocols proposed for wireless sensor networks that the route setup is modeled and solved as a network flow problem [27, 106, 107]. Finally, another group of protocols exist in the literature that consider QoS requirements for the wireless sensor networks [108, 109, 110].

1.5. Data Fusion/Aggregation

Data fusion is usually defined as the seamless integration of data from disparate sources. Data aggregation can be interpreted as a set of automated methods of combining the data coming from many sensors into meaningful information [96]. An example of a data fusion system is the human and animal brain. The brain integrates the sensory information namely taste, smell, touch, sound, and sight to have a better assessment of the environment and evaluation of threats to increase the chance of survivability. Sensor fusion approach [111] is used in many engineering problems like, guidance, navigation, and control of vehicles that require large number of information from different sources [112]. There are also vehicle and target tracking applications employing fused data for better estimation of the vehicle and target position [113]. Data fusion techniques combine data from multiple sensors to achieve improved accuracies and more specific inferences than could be achieved by use of a single sensor alone [111]. Different sensors measuring the same physical phenomena reduce the uncertainty with the aid of the redundant data [114]. Different sensors measuring different aspects of the sensed environment reduce the uncertainty by means of the data diversity. An example of the data diversity is seen in an optical sensor and a radar sensor measuring the distance of an obstacle from a robot on which they are mounted. Another advantage of data fusion is that different sensors may observe a different subset of the environment space. Fusing this sensory information provides a broader environmental vision. In this way, we achieve data complementarity.

The most common data fusion/aggregation functions can be considered as the suppression (eliminating duplicates), minimum, maximum, average, count and sum. In a network-centric warfare environment, we need the tracking information about the threats. A track involves the history information about a reported contact. With the knowledge of the state history about a track, we can infer the estimates of the future states of the track. This future estimation has the crucial importance for the solutions of the fire control problems and for reducing the state observation noise. Hence, the sensors of the network-centric warfare should report not only the existence of a threat but also the exact position of the thread. New threat detection has three possibilities concerning the data association. First, the new observation can be the new state of an existing track. Second, the new observation can be a totally new thread; finally, the new observation can be false/fake detection.

Data fusion is performed based on one of the following approaches [112]; the probabilistic models like Bayesian reasoning, evidence theory, robust statistics, or recursive operators, the least-squares techniques like Kalman filtering, optimal theory, regularization, or uncertainty ellipsoids, and the intelligent fusion using fuzzy logic [115], neural networks [116], or genetic algorithms [117].

There are two main approaches in triggering the data gathering process. In the first approach, the sink node disseminates its interest to the sensing nodes. This is also

known as querying [118]. The sensing nodes in reply, send their data to the sink node [87]. In the second approach, sensing nodes advertise their information and any sink node interested in that information requests the data [86]. The place of the aggregation provides another classification of the data aggregation techniques [119]. Aggregating the data in the interior router sensors on the way to its destination sink node is called as in-network aggregation. Aggregating the data from different sensors only at the sink node and forwarding the information received from other sensors towards the sink node without any processing is called out-of-network aggregation. Former reduces the network traffic, however requires some processing capability at the sensor nodes and introduces some processing delay at the sensor nodes. The node, which will perform an aggregation, should wait for the information from the other sensors. This also introduces a data collection delay at the aggregation node. In the later approach, simpler sensor nodes may be employed and the sensor routing delay decreases. However, the network traffic increases due to the redundant data. The sink node that will perform the out-of-network aggregation should have more processing capability to aggregate massive amount of data. The in-network data aggregation in which every intermediate node performs an aggregation on its received data has better performance in terms of the network communication cost than the out-of-network aggregation in which only the sink node performs the aggregation on the received data. This phenomenon has been shown theoretically in [120] and experimentally in [121]. The power consumption of each sensor node tends to be dominated by the cost of transmitting and receiving messages. In terms of power consumption, transmitting a single bit of data is equivalent to processing 800 instructions [122]. In the out-of-network aggregation approach, nodes close to the root send more data than the leaf nodes so that the power of the nodes closer to the sink node are drained off much earlier than the leaf nodes in the hierarchy. In-network aggregation provides fixed length transmission regardless of the depth of the sensor nodes in the aggregation tree.

In [87], authors introduce directed diffusion, where the sink node sends its interest to the network. Sensor nodes in response send their data to the sink node along the optimum path produced during the interest dissemination phase. The approach followed in digest diffusion is as follows; sensors do not send the data directly to the sink node; instead network converges on the aggregate value by exchanging data and current aggregate with one-hop neighbor sensors [123].

Another approach for collecting the desired data at any sink node is; sensor nodes only send their measurement data to the sink node throughout the network. In this approach, no local processing of the sensed data takes place. Upon receipt of the sensor measurements, the sink node aggregates all the data it receives. This approach requires high capacity sink nodes due to the large amount of sensory information to be aggregated. Another approach is that sensor nodes perform a fusion on their observations. The former approach is called centralized fusion where the later approach is called decentralized fusion. For some applications, a mixture of the centralized and decentralized fusion is employed. The place of the fusion affects the level of fusion. In the centralized fusion approach, the sink node performs signal level fusion. Sink node aggregates only raw signal data it received from the sensors. In the decentralized approach, each sensor performs a signal level fusion on its measurements. This fusion may be on the time series measurement of the environmental phenomena. The sink node in the decentralized approach performs a feature level or symbol level fusion. In the feature level fusion, sensors aggregate diverse data; where as in the symbol level fusion sensors aggregate complementary data. Another fusion level is the fusion of probabilities in which the detection reports are related with their accuracy probabilities in the fusion center [124]. Fusion of likelihood ratios related to the detection is another class of fusion level [125] [126]. Deciding the level of fusion is a design criterion between the accuracy of fusion and the communication bandwidth exhausted. If the signal level fusion is performed, detecting entities should communicate all the volume of their detection signals. Hence, high amount of communication bandwidth is exhausted, however accuracy of the fusion is high. If the decision is fused, communicated data is only the decisions of the sensing entities. This phenomena results in low bandwidth consumption in the expense of decision units participated in the sensing entities. Also, due to the information loss in the decision process at the local sensing entities accuracy of the global decision decreases.

The factors affecting sensor network performance are; the performance of com-

ponent sensors, the locations of the sensors with respect to each other, the velocity of information, fusion capabilities, tasking capabilities.

1.6. Sensing Options and the Sensor Model

This section reviews a subset of sensors that are well suited for wireless sensor networks in general. Passive sensors detect and measure various analogues of a target including its magnetic, thermal, or acoustic signature. Active sensors, such as ultrasonic and radar, can measure a target's presence, range, velocity, or direction of travel by how the target modifies, reflects, or scatters a signal transmitted by the sensor. In Table 1.1, we list the strengths and the weaknesses of some sensors [127] [128].

Sensor	Strengths	Weaknesses
type		
	-Well defined far-field target phenomenologies.	-Poorly defined near-field target phenomenologies.
Magnetic	-Discrimination of ferrous objects.	-Limited sensing range.
sensor	-No line-of-sight requirement.	
	-Passive nature.	
	-No line-of-sight requirement.	-Active nature.
Radar	-Ability to operate through obstacles.	-Interference.
sensor	-Estimate velocity.	
	-Resist jamming.	
Thermol	-Excellent sensitivity.	-Fresnel lens requirement.
1 nermai	-Excellent selectivity.	-Line-of-sight requirement.
sensor	-Passive nature.	
	-Long sensing range.	-Poorly defined target phenomenologies.
Acoustic	-High-fidelity.	-Moderately high sampling rates.
sensor	-No line-of-sight requirement.	-high time and space complexity for signal processing.
	-Passive nature.	
	-No line-of-sight requirement.	-Lack of availability for most chemicals.
Chemical	-Unique ability to detect gaseous compounds.	
sensor	-Passive nature.	
	-No line-of-sight requirement.	-Electrode placement.
Electric	-non-contact sensing of non-ferrous, fast or slow-moving,	-Nuisance parameters.
sensor	cool, quiet, odorless, steady, camouflaged objects.	
		-Active nature.
		-Interference.
gii_	-Long sensing range.	-Signal propagation variations due to ground composi-
Seismic		tion.
sensor	-No line-of-sight requirement.	-Moderately high sampling rates.
	-Passive nature.	-high time and space complexity for frequency domain
		analysis.
	-Long sensing range.	-Poorly defined target phenomenologies.
Optical	-High-fidelity.	-Line-of-sight requirement.
sensor	-Passive nature.	-High pixel sampling rates.
		-high time and space complexity for signal processing.
	-Multi-echo processing that allows sight beyond small ob-	-Signal propagation variations due to temperature and
Ultrasonic	stacles.	humidity.
sensor		-Line-of-sight requirement.
		-Active nature.
		-Interference.

Table 1.1. Strengths and weaknesses of the sensor types.

The sensor observation model is described by O(z|x), where, x is the actual phenomena, z is the observation. The observation model incorporates observation uncertainty from all sources, including the noise corruption to the signal, the signal modeling error of the sensor estimation algorithm, and the inaccuracy of the sensor hardware [49]. The reason for explicitly representing sensor characteristics is due to the distributed and heterogeneous nature of the sensor processing tasks.

2. DATA PROCESSING ARCHITECTURE

In this section, we first define the process model for the target motion. The next state of the target is calculated with the knowledge of its current state and the target state transition matrix. The observation model is defined next to simulate the sensor behavior when the target's existence is known. It determines the observable state of the target by the sensor given the target's real state. The foundations of the DDF architecture are presented in Section 2.3.

The following assumptions are in effect regarding the system model:

- Due to the high energy consumption and the cost of the mobile sensor nodes [129], we assume that immobile sensor nodes are deployed in the surveillance area. Hostile and hard to access environments may make it necessary to deploy sensors uniformly randomly from an airplane [130].
- Sensors nodes are deployed and operated in a two-dimensional operation area in which the effect of the topographical obstructions are omitted. The effects of the obstructions in the three-dimensional topographical operation areas are investigated in MS. study of Arslan [131].
- In order to concentrate on the target localization and the energy consumption performances of the proposed algorithms, we assume that a single target is present in the environment for the performance evaluation of the MISS and the ICTP algorithms.
- Sensor nodes communicate with each other using a broadcast communication mechanism. They receive the broadcasted target location information from every neighboring node, and update their target state information with a simple additive fusion framework. The communicating sensor nodes for collaboration do not address their information denomination values to any specific sensor node. Instead, sensor nodes just broadcast their denomination values related with the information state and the information matrix they have. As a consequence, each sensor node receiving the denomination values from the neighbors just updates

its target state information. Broadcasting eliminates the need for a routing algorithm among the sensor nodes. It also helps achieve the aim of having as many sensor nodes as possible to update their beliefs about the target state.

- Sink nodes are not mandatory. Collaborative tracking makes it possible for any sensor node in the sensor field to respond to the target location queries from the command and control center. Moreover, the target position may be queried by the units that cannot reach or that do not have sufficient time to reach the sink node or to the command and control center. The soldier in Fig. 1.2 is an example of such a unit. Hence, any node in the sensor field must have an acceptable target position information available immediately to the querying unit. Producing the target position information at the sink node by collecting the information denominations of the detecting sensor nodes introduces a certain delay due to the data propagation towards the sink node and processing at the sink. In addition, the sink node is a single point of failure in the network and consensus is required for its selection. Instead, we distribute the data processing throughout the network.
- Sensor node coordinates are known. Sensor position estimation is a problem of its own (see e.g. [132, 133] for sensor localization), and it is beyond the scope of this thesis.
- Sampling is synchronized among the sensor nodes. Moreover, sampling periods are long enough to carry out the necessary communication needed for collaboration in the previous sampling period. While the detection signals are sampled at period s, the information obtained from the target at s 1 is broadcasted, as shown in Fig. 2.1. An optimization for the sampling interval is presented in [134]. Moreover, a particle filter based distributed target tracking methodology for asynchronous sensor networks that do not require time synchronization protocol is proposed in [135]. Efficient sensor network time synchronization protocols, in which one or more GPS synchronized sensor nodes synchronize the whole network, are proposed in the literature [136, 137].

The collaborative target tracking paradigm implemented by each sensor node is explained in Chapter 3. In the sequel, we describe the associated components of the



Figure 2.1. Time synchronization of sampling and communication periods of the sensor nodes.

system including the fusion procedure, the sensor selection strategy and the transmission power adjustment scheme, which collectively deliver good performance while simultaneously keeping the energy expenditure low. We consider a field that is put under surveillance with a total of N_T sensors. The reference will be some arbitrary sensor node S_m .

2.1. Process Model

The process model describes the target motion. The process model finds the state of the target at time instant k + 1 given the state of the target at time instant k. The model contains a noise term to account for possible randomness in the target motion. The target state is a four-dimensional vector that consists of the two-dimensional position of the target, (ξ, η) , and the velocity of the target at each of these dimensions, $(\dot{\xi}, \dot{\eta})$. The target state vector is defined by

$$\mathbf{x} = [\xi \ \eta \ \dot{\xi} \ \dot{\eta}]^T, \tag{2.1}$$

and it evolves in time according to

$$\mathbf{x}(k+1) = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{x}(k) + \mathbf{v}(k)$$

where $\mathbf{x}(k)$ is the real target state vector at time k as given in (2.1), \mathbf{F} is the transition matrix and \mathbf{v} is the independent, Gaussian distributed process noise with zero mean







Figure 2.3. Sensor observation model.

and covariance matrix **Q**. Target motion is modeled as in Fig. 2.2.

2.2. Observation Model

Sensor observation model is shown in Fig. 2.3. Noise is added to the real target state in order to model the sensor observation uncertainties. Sensor nodes can only observe the first two dimensions of the target state. The velocity of the target is not observable. Furthermore, nodes collect range and bearing data, but they do not have the coordinates of the target directly. Because the target state is observed in polar coordinates, linear filtering formulations do not help. There are two implementation alternatives to remedy this problem: (1) by using the inverse transformation, obtain directly a converted measurement of the target position; (2) leave the measurement in its original form. The former yields a purely linear problem, allowing for linear filtering. The latter leads to a mixed coordinate filter [138]. In [139], the mean and covariance of the errors of Cartesian measurements, which are obtained by converting polar measurements, are derived. This conversion provides better estimation accuracy than the Extended Kalman Filter, in which the nonlinear target state measurements are utilized without conversion [139].

The range $r_{m,d}$ and bearing $\theta_{m,d}$ measured by S_m are defined with respect to the true range r_m and bearing θ_m as

$$r_{m,d} = r_m + \tilde{r}_m, \qquad (2.2)$$

$$\theta_{m,d} = \theta_m + \tilde{\theta}_m,$$

where the errors in range \tilde{r}_m and bearing $\tilde{\theta}_m$ are assumed to be independent and Gaussian distributed with moments

$$E[\tilde{r}_m] = 0, \quad E[\tilde{\theta}_m] = 0, \quad E[\tilde{r}_m^2] = \sigma_{r_m}^2, \quad E[\tilde{\theta}_m^2] = \sigma_{\theta_m}^2,$$

where the time-dependence is implicit. The mean target state observed after the unbiased polar-to-Cartesian conversion is given by [139]

$$\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{m} = \begin{bmatrix} \xi_{m,d}^{c} \\ \eta_{m,d}^{c} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} r_{m,d}\cos\theta_{m,d} \\ r_{m,d}\sin\theta_{m,d} \end{bmatrix} - \boldsymbol{\mu}_{m}$$
(2.3)

where μ_m is the average true bias

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}_{m} = \left[\begin{array}{c} r_{m,d} \cos \theta_{m,d} (e^{-\sigma_{\theta_{m}}^{2}} - e^{-\sigma_{\theta_{m}}^{2}/2}) \\ r_{m,d} \sin \theta_{m,d} (e^{-\sigma_{\theta_{m}}^{2}} - e^{-\sigma_{\theta_{m}}^{2}/2}) \end{array} \right]$$

The covariance matrix \mathbf{R}_m of the observation errors in $\boldsymbol{\varphi}_m$ is [138, 139]

$$\mathbf{R}_{m} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{m_{11}} & R_{m_{12}} \\ R_{m_{21}} & R_{m_{22}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.4)

where

$$R_{m_{11}} = r_{m,d}^2 e^{-2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2} [\cos^2 \theta_{m,d} (\cosh 2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2 - \cosh \sigma_{\theta_m}^2) \\ + \sin^2 \theta_{m,d} (\sinh 2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2 - \sinh \sigma_{\theta_m}^2)] \\ + \sigma_{r_m}^2 e^{-2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2} [\cos^2 \theta_{m,d} (2\cosh 2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2 - \cosh \sigma_{\theta_m}^2) \\ + \sin^2 \theta_d (2\sinh 2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2 - \sinh \sigma_{\theta_m}^2)],$$

$$R_{m_{22}} = r_{m,d}^2 e^{-2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2} [\sin^2 \theta_d (\cosh 2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2 - \cosh \sigma_{\theta_m}^2) + \cos^2 \theta_{m,d} (\sinh 2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2 - \sinh \sigma_{\theta_m}^2)] + \sigma_{r_m}^2 e^{-2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2} [\sin^2 \theta_{m,d} (2\cosh 2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2 - \cosh \sigma_{\theta_m}^2) + \cos^2 \theta_{m,d} (2\sinh 2\sigma_{\theta_m}^2 - \sinh \sigma_{\theta_m}^2)],$$

$$R_{m_{12}} = R_{m_{21}} = \sin \theta_{m,d} \cos \theta_{m,d} e^{-4\sigma_{\theta_m}^2} \left[\sigma_{r_m}^2 + (r_{m,d}^2 + \sigma_{r_m}^2)(1 - e^{\sigma_{\theta_m}^2}) \right].$$

2.3. Distributed Data Fusion Architecture

In the information filter formulation, the information state $\hat{\mathbf{y}}_m$ and the information matrix \mathbf{Y}_m associated with the state estimate $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_m$ and the posterior estimation error covariance \mathbf{P}_m of sensor node S_m , $m = 1, 2, ..., N_T$, at time instant k are given by

$$\hat{\mathbf{y}}_m(k) = \mathbf{P}_m^{-1}(k)\hat{\mathbf{x}}_m(k),$$
$$\mathbf{Y}_m(k) = \mathbf{P}_m^{-1}(k).$$



Figure 2.4. Information state calculation.

In [140], it is shown that by means of sufficient statistics, the observation φ_m contributes $\mathbf{i}_m(k)$ to the information state $\hat{\mathbf{y}}_m$, and $\mathbf{I}_m(k)$ to the information matrix \mathbf{Y}_m where the denomination values are computed as

$$\mathbf{i}_{m}(k) = \mathbf{H}_{m}^{T} \mathbf{R}_{m}^{-1}(k) \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{m}(k), \qquad (2.5)$$
$$\mathbf{I}_{m}(k) = \mathbf{H}_{m}^{T} \mathbf{R}_{m}^{-1}(k) \mathbf{H}_{m}$$

with \mathbf{H}_m being the observation matrix of S_m that relates the target state estimate $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_m$ to the sensor measurement $\boldsymbol{\varphi}_m(k)$. The node updates its own belief upon receiving its own sensory observation according to

$$\hat{\mathbf{y}}_m(k|k) = \hat{\mathbf{y}}_m(k|k-1) + \mathbf{i}_m(k), \qquad (2.6)$$
$$\mathbf{Y}_m(k|k) = \mathbf{Y}_m(k|k-1) + \mathbf{I}_m(k)$$

where $\hat{\mathbf{y}}_m(k|k-1)$ represents the information state estimate at time k given the observations up to and including time k-1.

Instead of sending the measurements related to the target state to the collaborating sensor nodes, sharing the information form of the observations results in a simple additive fusion framework that can be run on each of the tiny sensing devices. The distributed data fusion process for the information state is given in Fig. 2.4 and for the information matrix is given in Fig. 2.5. Locally extracted or network received information state and the information matrix denomination values are added to the current information state and the information matrix respectively as they arrive.



Figure 2.5. Information matrix calculation.

Other advantages of the information form of filtering over the canonical form are [138]:

- Saving the limited energy resources of sensor nodes by reducing the computational load of the processors.
- In the canonical form of filtering, updates in the state covariance matrix may cause loss of symmetry and positive definiteness as a result of rounding errors. Information filtering improves the numerical accuracy by preserving the symmetry and positive definiteness property of the state covariance matrix.
- Information filtering provides a means for the start-up of the estimation without an initial estimate.

Note that the fusion of posterior information requires the extraction of the information denomination values. This procedure, which should be done for every received posterior information, leads to a drastic growth in the amount of processing, especially with increasing number of sensor nodes in the network. Define $S_m(k)$ to be the set of nodes that are neighbors with S_m at time k. Letting $\mathbf{i}_n(k)$ and $\mathbf{I}_n(k)$ denote the *n*th neighboring node's contribution to $\hat{\mathbf{y}}_m$ and \mathbf{Y}_m , respectively, the DDF equations are

$$\hat{\mathbf{y}}_m(k|k) = \hat{\mathbf{y}}_m(k|k-1) + \sum_{n:S_n \in \mathcal{S}_m(k)} \mathbf{i}_n(k),$$
(2.7)

$$\mathbf{Y}_m(k|k) = \mathbf{Y}_m(k|k-1) + \sum_{n:S_n \in \mathcal{S}_m(k)} \mathbf{I}_n(k).$$

Just before the data at time k are collected, if we are given the observations up to k-1, the predicted information state and the information matrix at time k can be calculated as

$$\hat{\mathbf{y}}_{m}(k|k-1) = \mathbf{Y}_{m}(k|k-1)\mathbf{F}_{m}\mathbf{Y}_{m}^{-1}(k-1|k-1)\hat{\mathbf{y}}_{m}(k-1|k-1),$$
$$\mathbf{Y}_{m}(k|k-1) = [\mathbf{F}_{m}\mathbf{Y}_{m}^{-1}(k-1|k-1)\mathbf{F}_{m}^{T} + \mathbf{Q}_{m}]^{-1}$$
(2.8)

where \mathbf{Q}_m is the noise covariance matrix for node $S_m, m = 1, 2, \dots, N_T$.

The state estimate of the target given the observations up to and including the time k can be found from

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}_m(k|k) = \mathbf{Y}_m^{-1}(k|k)\hat{\mathbf{y}}_m(k|k).$$
(2.9)

The information state and information matrix denominations in (2.6) are functions of φ_m as in (2.5). However, in the DDF paradigm described by (2.7), these are obtained from the neighboring sensor nodes by means of wireless communication. A sensor's own observation and the information received from the neighboring nodes have similar means for updating the belief about the target state. The ease of the belief update in the target position estimation is another reason for utilizing the information filtering while distributing the target tracking process throughout the network.

2.4. Energy Model

Our energy model for the sensor nodes is based on the first order radio model described in [96, 106, 141]. A sensor node consumes $\varepsilon_{elec} = 50nJ/bit$ to run the transmitter or receiver circuitry and $\varepsilon_{amp} = 100pJ/bit/m^2$ for the transmitter amplifier. Thus the energy consumed by a sensor node *i* in receiving a b-bit data packet is given by

$$RX_i = \varepsilon_{elec}b$$

While the energy consumed in transmitting a b-bit data packet to sensor j is given by

$$TX_{i,j} = \varepsilon_{elec}b + \varepsilon_{amp}d_{i,j}^2b$$

where, $d_{i,j}$ is the distance between the sensor nodes i and j and b is the number of transmitted bits.

3. MAXIMUM MUTUAL INFORMATION-BASED SENSOR SELECTION ALGORITHM

Mutual information measures how much uncertainty is removed by one random variable about another one. By computing the mutual information between the target state and the measurement, one can gain insight as to how much the current observation tells about the current target state. The unit of the mutual information measure is in bits [142].

The mutual information gained with the last observation of the mth sensor can be formulated as

$$J_m(k, \boldsymbol{\varphi}_m(k)) = J_m(k) = \frac{1}{2} \log \left[\frac{|\mathbf{Y}_m(k|k)|}{|\mathbf{Y}_m(k|k-1)|} \right], \qquad (3.1)$$

where $\mathbf{Y}_m(k|k)$ is the information matrix at time instant k after the target state is observed, $m = 1, 2, ..., N_T$ [140].

In the data fusion paradigm described by (2.7), the number of neighboring nodes, which is counted by the cardinality $|S_m(k)| \leq N_T$, is usually too large, causing excessive data communication in the network and a strain on the energy resources. To alleviate this problem, we introduce the Maximum Mutual Information-Based Sensor Selection (MISS) algorithm, where node S_m shares its own information about the target state with all its neighbors at time k only if the mutual information gain $J_m(k)$ is high enough to participate in the current cycle. Otherwise, S_m withholds transmission. To that end, all neighboring nodes of S_m are ranked in decreasing mutual information order. Let $\mathcal{J}_m(k) = \{J_{m,1}(k), J_{m,2}(k), \ldots, J_{m,|S_m(k)|}\}$ be the ordered set of mutual information values as predicted by S_m at time instant k. Thus, $J_{m,n}(k)$ is S_m 's estimate of $J_n(k)$, and $J_{m,1} \geq J_{m,2} \geq \ldots \geq J_{m,|S_m(k)|}$. Define $\mathcal{J}'_m(k) = \{J_{m,1}(k), J_{m,2}(k), \ldots, J_{m,N_{\max}}(k)\} \subset$ $\mathcal{J}_m(k)$, where $N_{\max} < |S_m(k)|$, as the ordered subset that keeps the first N_{\max} elements of $\mathcal{J}_m(k)$. Let $\mathcal{S}'_m(k) \subset \mathcal{S}_m(k)$ denote the set of nodes that are sufficiently informative¹ to contribute to data fusion at S_m in the *k*th cycle.

For $N_{\text{max}} < |\mathcal{S}_m(k)|$, the MISS algorithm can be formulated as follows.

1. If S_m detects the target, and $J_m(k) > \min \mathcal{J}'_m(k)$, then S_m broadcasts its information state and the information matrix denominations, $\mathbf{i}_m(k)$, $\mathbf{I}_m(k)$, to the network, and

$$\mathcal{S}'_m(k) = \{S_n \in \mathcal{S}_m(k), n = 1, 2, \dots, |\mathcal{S}_m(k)| : J_{m,n} \in \mathcal{J}'_m(k)\} - S_{N_{\max}}.$$

2. If S_m detects the target, and $J_m(k) \leq \min \mathcal{J}'_m(k)$, or if S_m does not detect, then S_m withholds, and

$$\mathcal{S}'_m(k) = \{S_n \in \mathcal{S}_m(k), n = 1, 2, \dots, |\mathcal{S}_m(k)| : J_{m,n} \in \mathcal{J}'_m(k)\}.$$

The algorithm tries to limit the maximum number of sensors that communicate in the neighborhood (in the sense defined by Assumption A3) of each node to N_{max} . Revisiting (2.7), the current belief is updated with the received information from the nodes in $S'_m(k)$ according to

$$\hat{\mathbf{y}}_m(k|k) = \hat{\mathbf{y}}_m(k|k-1) + \sum_{n:S_n \in \mathcal{S}'_m(k)} \mathbf{i}_n(k), \qquad (3.2)$$

$$\mathbf{Y}_m(k|k) = \mathbf{Y}_m(k|k-1) + \sum_{n:S_n \in \mathcal{S}'_m(k)} \mathbf{I}_n(k).$$

In the event that $N_{\max} \geq |\mathcal{S}_m(k)|$, all nodes in $\mathcal{S}_m(k)$ simply transmit their data. The MISS algorithm, implemented by each sensor node, is presented in an algorithmic fashion in Fig. 3.1.

¹The informativeness of a sensor node will be associated with a quantitative measure in (3.3).



Figure 3.1. Target tracking algorithm employed by a detecting sensor node.

For some sensor node S_m to implement the MISS algorithm in the *k*th cycle, S_m has to locally create $\mathcal{J}_m(k)$. That is, every node needs to estimate the mutual information values of all its neighbors. Assuming that $\mathbf{Y}_n(k|k-1) \approx \mathbf{Y}_m(k|k-1)$, $\forall S_n \in \mathcal{S}_m(k)$, due to the past collaboration among the neighboring nodes, and $\mathbf{H}_n = \mathbf{H}_m, \forall S_n \in \mathcal{S}_m(k)$, because neighboring sensor nodes observe the same properties of the target, we define

$$J_{m,n}(k) = \frac{1}{2} \log \left[\frac{|\mathbf{Y}_{m,n}(k|k)|}{|\mathbf{Y}_{m}(k|k-1)|} \right]$$
(3.3)

where

$$\mathbf{Y}_{m,n}(k|k) = \mathbf{Y}_m(k|k-1) + \mathbf{I}_{m,n}(k)$$

with

$$\mathbf{I}_{m,n}(k) = \mathbf{H}_m^T \mathbf{R}_{m,n}^{-1}(k) \mathbf{H}_m.$$
(3.4)

being the information matrix denomination estimate of S_n by S_m . The informativeness of a node is measured by (3.3), which assesses the reduction in the target state uncertainty with the incoming new data. The higher the value obtained from (3.3), the more informative the sensor about the target state. $\mathbf{R}_{m,n}$ is the estimate of S_m about the covariance matrix of the observation errors by S_n . Consequently, $\mathbf{Y}_{m,n}$ is the information matrix estimate of S_n by S_m . Therefore by (2.4), to have the estimate $\mathbf{R}_{m,n}$ in (3.4) (and hence the estimate $\mathbf{Y}_{m,n}(k|k)$ in (3.3)), it is required that each sensor node holds a list whose elements are the standard deviations of the target range observations, σ_{r_n} , and the standard deviations of the target bearing observations, σ_{θ_n} , for all $S_n \in \mathcal{S}_m(k)$. Moreover, S_m needs to find $r_{n,d}$, $\theta_{n,d}$, which can be determined from $r_{m,d}$, $\theta_{m,d}$ and S_n 's position information, which is assumed to be known. Note that before the observation at time instant k arrives, node S_m already has the prediction $\mathbf{Y}_m(k|k-1)$ about the target state information at k. The list $\mathcal{J}_m(k)$ is formed using the estimated mutual information values of its neighbors. During the simulation studies, which are reported in Section 3.1, we also examine the number of times the actual mutual information list differs from the estimated list.

Collaboration among the sensor nodes in the network results in $\mathbf{Y}_n(k|k-1) \approx \mathbf{Y}_m(k|k-1), \forall S_n \in \mathcal{S}_m(k)$, which follows from (3.2). If every node in the network was able to communicate with the others (i.e., fully connected network topology), the equality $\mathbf{Y}_n(k|k-1) = \mathbf{Y}_m(k|k-1)$ would hold. The reason for having $\mathbf{Y}_n(k|k-1) \approx \mathbf{Y}_m(k|k-1)$ lies behind the fact that the communication range is much larger than the detection range of the sensor node, S_m . With its own observation from the target, S_m can find $\mathbf{Y}_m(k|k)$. The decision as to whether S_m should collaborate with S_n or not depends on the utility of the information that comes from S_n , and it should be made before S_n transmits. To remedy this, we assume that S_m can predict $\mathbf{Y}_{m,n}(k|k)$ and use it instead of $\mathbf{Y}_n(k|k)$. Moreover, S_m neglects the discrepancy between $\mathbf{Y}_{m,n}(k|k)$ and $\mathbf{Y}_n(k|k)$ that is caused by the observation noises of S_m and S_n . A better approach in terms of precision would be S_m to predict the target position and the uncertainty estimation of S_n using the mean of L predictions. However, this would incur a delay and an increase in the processing power requirements.

3.1. Performance Evaluation of the MISS Algorithm

We run Monte Carlo simulations to examine the performance of the proposed MISS algorithm in terms of power consumption and target localization accuracy. We examine two scenarios: the first is the sparser one, which consists of 300 sensor nodes randomly deployed in a 200 m \times 200 m area. The second is a denser scenario in which 800 sensor nodes are placed in the same area. All data points in the graphs represent the means of twenty runs. A target moves in the area according to the process model described in Section 2.1. We use the parameters of the TWR-ISM-002-I micro-power impulse radar (MIR) with pseudo-random signaling whose lifetime is up to several years on AA batteries [143]. The integrated sensor processor board, MIR board, MIR



Figure 3.2. Integrated processor board, MIR board, MIR antenna board, and battery [2].

antenna board, and the battery is redrawn from [2] in Fig. 3.2. Fig. 3.3 shows the picture of this integration and Fig. 3.4 shows the packed MIR. Typical detection range of a TWR-ISM-002-I is 18 meters [3]. As in [139], we assume constant range and bearing standard deviation of $\sigma_{r_m} = 0.1$ m and $\sigma_{\theta_m} = 1^{\circ}$, respectively, for all sensory observations.

The sensor node tracks the target locally using the information form of the Kalman filter [144] as described in Section 2.3. If the sensor does not detect a target, it updates its belief about the target state according to the track history.

In collaborative information fusion, if a sensor node is eligible to share its belief about the target state with other sensor nodes, it broadcasts its information state and the information matrix denominations. Sensor nodes update their belief about the target state with these received denominations as described in Section 2.3.

The simulations are run for a flat, rural setting where the radio signal propagation is characterized by the shadow-fading model with parameters given in Table 3.1 [145].



Figure 3.3. Integrated circuit boards of the MIR [2].



Figure 3.4. Packed MIR [3].

Carrier frequency	$1.8~\mathrm{GHz}$
Path loss exponent	2
TX & RX antenna height	0.1 m
Shadow-fading standard deviation	4
Sensor node transmission power	-30 dB

Table 3.1. Shadow fading communication model parameters.

As the target state transition matrix and the target state transition covariance, we respectively use

$$\mathbf{F} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{Q} = \zeta \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 0.1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0.1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0.1 \end{bmatrix}$$

for all sensors where ζ is the target maneuvering index. A lower ζ value means that the target maneuvers slowly, and vice versa. In the simulations, ζ is set to unity. A sensor node can only observe the position related with the target. The velocity information is not directly observable. We therefore use

$$\mathbf{H} = \left[\begin{array}{rrrr} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{array} \right]$$

as the observation matrix of each sensor node.

Even for the sparse scenario, the mean number of sensor nodes detecting the target is 14 so that at most 14 sensor nodes can actively participate in the collaboration. Hence, it is assumed that the sampling period of the signals from the target is sufficiently long to allow for the collaboration of 14 nodes.

On average, 12 per cent of the sensor nodes are located in positions different than the true mutual information list. Moreover, an inaccurately formed list contains on the average just two sensor nodes that are ranked in wrong positions in the mutual information list. This deviation from the correct list is acceptable from a practical standpoint as evidenced by the performance graphs. The reason behind the successful mutual information score list formation lies in the fact that communication ranges are more far-reaching compared to the detection ranges of the sensor devices. This results in consistent posterior target information state and information matrix estimates with collaboration, which in turn help generate consistent mutual information scores throughout the sensor network. Inconsistencies in the target information state and information matrix estimates are caused by sensor nodes which cannot hear each other primarily due to radio propagation characteristics, including path loss.

Tests show that average target localization errors are on the order of 0.5 meters based on 20 simulations, each one run for 100 seconds and with a distinct random seed. The sensor with the worst target position estimation has a localization error of 3.7 meters. Target localization errors are measured from the weight center of the target, which results in point target tracking errors. Using the region centroid for the tracking system is investigated in [146].

The WSN has two modes of operations, namely the searching and the tracking modes. Any sensor that detects a target or receives a tracking mode alert from a neighboring sensor node goes into tracking mode and warns the neighboring nodes to do the same. In the tracking mode, the communication transmitter circuit is activated according to the selective activation strategy with the maximum mutual information metric whereas the receiver circuit and the sensor circuit are active all the time. However, in the searching mode, we utilize a duty-cycled activation in which the sensor node receiver and sensing circuit is active for some duty cycle and inactive thereafter. In the simulations, we compare the mean error about the target localization for the collaborative tracking framework described in Section 2.3. We achieve the maximum tracking accuracy when all sensor nodes detecting the target participate in the DDF task. As the number of sensor nodes allowed to participate in the fusion task is reduced, the tracking quality deteriorates. This yields higher localization errors about the distributed target position estimates. However, when fewer sensor nodes take part in the collaboration, fewer communication packets travel in the network. A reduction



Figure 3.5. Target trajectory as seen by the sensor node represented with a solid dot(•) in the 300-sensor scenario.

in the number of sent packets affects the energy expenditure of the wireless sensor devices directly. Selecting the sensor nodes to actively participate in the fusion task in an intelligent manner improves tracking quality while allowing the same number of sensor nodes to communicate. Fig. 3.5 depicts the 300-sensor scenario, target location observation errors, Kalman and information-filtered target localization errors, and cooperative information-filtered target localization errors from the viewpoint of the sensor node that is marked as a solid dot at the grid point (132,40). As the target moves away from the sensor node, observation errors increase. Kalman or informationfiltering reduces the observation errors. However, at some target maneuver points, if the sensor cannot detect the target, the node tracks the target position by resorting to the target history only. In other words, the Kalman gain is set to zero if the sensor cannot detect the target. This results in the erroneous linear tracking of the target until a positive detection is achieved. Poor detection performance results if target maneuvers are missed by the sensor. With the aid of collaboration amongst the sensor nodes, these target maneuver misses are avoided. We track the target for 100 seconds in the simulations.



Figure 3.6. Mean error comparison for the sparse scenario.



Figure 3.7. Mean error comparison for the dense scenario.

In collaborative target tracking, selecting the participating active sensor nodes randomly means that a node detecting the target broadcasts its information immediately if the maximum number of sensor nodes to participate, N_{max} , has not yet been reached. This can be decided by counting the number of target position announcements received from the neighboring sensor nodes. The competing approach considered in the simulations selects the closest sensor nodes to the target location in terms of the Mahalanobis distance, which differs from the Euclidian distance in a way that it takes into account the correlation in the uncertainty over the target position. Mahalanobis distance between the two random vectors, the observed target position $\varphi_m(k)$ and the sensor position $\mathbf{L}_S(k)$, is defined as

$$D_M(\boldsymbol{\varphi}_m(k), \mathbf{L}_S(k)) = \sqrt{\left(\boldsymbol{\varphi}_m(k) - \mathbf{L}_S(k)\right)^T} \mathbf{P}_m(k)^{-1} \left(\boldsymbol{\varphi}_m(k) - \mathbf{L}_S(k)\right)$$

where $\mathbf{P}_m(k)$ is the covariance matrix of the sensor observations at time k. If $\mathbf{P}_m(k)$ equals the identity matrix, then the Euclid and Mahalanobis distance measures are the same [147]. Figures 3.6 and 3.7 show, for the sparse and dense scenarios respectively, that as the maximum number of sensor nodes allowed to communicate increases, the mean error occurring throughout a 100-second scenario decreases for all three sensor selection algorithms. Target localization errors are calculated each second. For the cases studied with the sparse scenario, selecting sensor nodes which improve the global belief about the target position according to the mutual information measure results in average tracking quality improvements of 4.7 per cent and 10.8 per cent over the minimum Mahalanobis distance-based sensor selection and random selection, respectively.

For the dense scenario of 800 sensors, these improvements with MISS respectively become 8.9 per cent and 19.4 per cent for the two selection strategies.

Fig. 3.8 depicts the total exhausted energy in the network for all three sensor selection algorithms for the sparse scenario. The consumed energy grows as the maximum number of sensor nodes that are allowed to communicate increases. This is a natural result of the increasing number of communication packets in the network. However, the sensor selection algorithm does not have any effect on the exhausted energy of the network. The same arguments are also valid for the dense scenario, However, due to the broadcast-based communication mechanism among the sensor nodes, incre-



Figure 3.8. Comparison of the consumed energy for the sparse scenario.



Figure 3.9. Comparison of the consumed energy for the desired target localization accuracies for the sparse scenario.



Figure 3.10. Comparison of the consumed energy for the desired target localization accuracies for the dense scenario.

menting the number of deployed sensor nodes results in a rise in the total consumed communication energy. The increase in the mean exhausted energy with the increment in the number of deployed sensor nodes is caused by the receivers of the sensor nodes. Broadcast messages are received by more sensor nodes in the dense scenario than in the sparse one.

For a given target tracking accuracy level, we examine the amount of conserved energy by selecting the sensor nodes to participate in the collaboration in an intelligent manner. If we select 0.4 meters as the target tracking accuracy level operating point, the energy savings attained can go up to 30 per cent for the sparse scenario and 75 per cent for the dense scenario. Figures 3.9 and 3.10 depict the energy savings for the given target tracking accuracies for the sparse and dense scenarios, respectively.

4. AN INFORMATION-CONTROLLED TRANSMISSION POWER ADJUSTMENT SCHEME

In this section, we introduce the Information-Controlled Transmission Power adjustment (ICTP) scheme as the energy saving strategy, in addition to the MISS algorithm. The block diagram representation of the sensor node whose task is distributed target tracking with MISS and ICTP is shown in Fig. 4.1. Sensory observation is transferred to the information extractor module to retrieve the information state and the information matrix denomination values from the received observation using (2.5), which are then passed to the local information filter module where local target tracking takes place according to the operations in (2.6). The target state belief obtained from the local information filter is handed over to the collaboration logic and the network information filter modules. Using the mutual information measure in (3.3), the collaboration logic decides if the sensor node is going to share the current target observation with the network or not. The collaboration logic works as described in Chapter 3. The network information filter is the place where the information state and the information matrix denominations received from the neighboring sensor nodes are incorporated to the current target state estimate of the sensor node according to (3.2). The resulting collaborated target state estimate is passed to the target next state predictor module which functions as described by (2.8).

The ICTP scheme is embodied in the power adjustment logic module in which a node consults the mutual information list index of the sensor node and the preset power adjustment pattern, and subsequently decides on the transmission power for communicating its information state and information matrix denominations to the network. Sample power adjustment patterns are shown in Fig. 4.2. In general, each pattern consists of an ordered set of transmission power levels, $\mathcal{P} = \{P_1, P_2, \ldots, P_{N_{\max}}\}$ where $P_1 \geq P_2 \geq \ldots \geq P_{N_{\max}}$. If the node S_m is such that $J_m(k) > \min \mathcal{J}'_m(k)$ and if $J_m(k)$ is ranked ℓ th in the ordered set $\mathcal{J}''_m(k)$ that lists $\mathcal{J}'_m(k)$ and $J_m(k)$ together, then S_m broadcasts with power P_ℓ at k. If S_m is ranked first in $\mathcal{J}''_m(k)$, then it has the



Figure 4.1. Block diagram of the sensor node employing the MISS and ICTP algorithms.

privilege of broadcasting with the maximum power, P_1 .

Transmitting with a lower power shortens a detecting node's communication range, which results in a reduced degree of collaboration for the DDF architecture. With the ICTP scheme, we aim to decrease the energy expenditure of each sensor node by regulating its communication transmission power according to its information content. The higher the mutual information a sensor node has about the target state, the more the communication transmission power it uses. Low-power transmission of a sensor node having low information assists the non-detecting sensors to update their belief about the target state.

The performance of ICTP varies depending on the way the network is queried about the target location information. In sensor network applications, the data collected by the network are carried to a processing (data collection) center on a periodic basis or upon a query [148]. The DDF paradigm makes it possible to query any one of the nodes in the WSN to get an immediate response owing to the communication ranges that are far-reaching in comparison to the sensing ranges. Alternatively, the processing center can be informed by the most informative sensor node (MISN), which is the one with the maximum mutual information J_1 . There is a delay-accuracy tradeoff in the above-mentioned two query-response mechanisms. Routing the query packets to MISN increases the query-response time of the WSN. Responding to a query immediately without consulting the MISN, on the other hand, reduces the query-response time with the cost of reduced target localization accuracy.



Figure 4.2. Power adjustment patterns.

The experiments in Section 4.1 show that if a sensor network queries any one of its sensor nodes, then reducing the transmission power deteriorates the overall tracking quality due to the reduced degree of collaboration. However, if the MISN is queried, then adjusting the communication transmission powers of the sensing nodes according to their information content lowers the energy consumption while maintaining the tracking accuracy.

The MISS algorithm requires that every sensor node be aware of the expected mutual information content of their neighboring nodes. This facilitates each sensor node to locate the MISN in its vicinity. The main cost incurred in querying the MISN is in routing the query packets to that node, and routing the target state information packets back to the querying node. The pseudo-code of the algorithm of a sensor node running the ICTP scheme in the DDF architecture is given in Fig. 4.3. Sensor nodes obtain the target state observations in Statement 1 of the algorithm in Fig 4.3. Information state and the information matrix denominations are calculated in Statements 2 and 3. The next information state and the information matrix are predicted in Statements 4 and 5. In Statements 6 and 7, the local information filter runs for the predicted information state and the information matrix together with the information denominations obtained from the local sensory observations about the target state. The sensor's own mutual information value is calculated in Statement 8 with the last observation. In Statements 9, 10, and 11, the neighboring sensor nodes' mutual information values are estimated using the current local target state estimate and the previous collaborated target state estimate. The neighboring sensor nodes and the sensor node itself are sorted according to the decreasing mutual information scores in Statement 12. In Statement 13, the index of the sensor node itself in the sorted mutual information score list is found. In Statements 14, 15, 16, and 17, using the mutual information score index, the sensor node decides to actively participate or not to participate in the collaboration cycle. If the index value is smaller than the maximum number of sensor nodes allowed to communicate, then the sensor node calculates the transmission power to broadcast the information state and the information matrix denominations to the WSN using the mutual information score index value and the transmission power reduction pattern used. In Statements 18, and 19, the sensor node updates the information state and the information matrix related with the target location using the received information state and the information matrix denomination values from the neighboring sensor nodes. The estimated target position is calculated in Statement 20 of the algorithm in Fig. 4.3 using the collaborated information state and the information matrix values.

The time complexity of the algorithm in Fig. 4.3 is bounded with the cardinality of the set of neighboring sensors in lines 9-11 and 18-19. Hence, the time complexity of the algorithm in Fig. 4.3 is $O(|S_m(k)|)$. Assuming 50 cpu cycles for each floating point operation [149], 156750+8450 $|S_m(k)|$ cpu cycles are required for the algorithm in Fig. 4.3. Moreover, typical 15 neighboring sensor nodes utilize 2.18 per cent cpu of an xbow sensor node with an Intel PXA271 xscale processor [4] working with 13 MHz in low frequency mode. The processor frequency can be scaled up to 416 MHz. PXA271 processor exhausts 10.73 nJ per cpu cycle [4]. Using 2 × AA batteries each of which has 11050 J energy can operate the sensor node running algorithm in Fig. 4.3 with a typical of 15 neighbor sensors in tracking mode for 1701 days.

4.1. Performance Evaluation of the ICTP algorithm

We run Monte Carlo simulations to examine the performance of the proposed ICTP scheme in a 200 m \times 200 m area in which 500 sensors are deployed randomly. All data points in the graphs represent the means of ten runs in which not only the detection and communication uncertainties but also the random sensor deployment change. A target moves in the area according to the process model described in Section 2.1. We utilize TWR-ISM-002-I radar with pseudorandom signaling, whose typical range is 18 meters. The sensor tracks the target locally using the information form of the Kalman filter as described in Section 2.3. In our simulations, we use the shadow-fading radio propagation model for the communication signals.

We test the performance of the proposed ICTP scheme according to three power adjustment patterns depicted in Fig. 4.2. Pattern 3 exhibits the steepest power reduction, while Pattern 1 has the softest slope. In Fig. 4.4, we observe that the energy savings increase proportionally to the steepness in power reduction. On the other hand, Fig. 4.5 points out that the mean error increases as well with the steepness of the power adjustment pattern. Lines representing the maximum mutual information present the case in which no power adjustment is made. If we adjust the transmission powers of the sensor nodes according to Pattern 3, on average, we achieve 2.14 times less energy usage with respect to the case in which no transmission power adjustment is made (Fig. 4.4). However, power adjustment, on average, doubles the target localization errors as observed from Fig. 4.5. We conclude from Fig. 4.6 that the gain in terms of the exhausted communication energy does not compensate the increase in the target localization error. Hence, reducing the communication transmission power is not desirable. In Figures 4.4, 4.5, and 4.6, we measure the expected target localization error when the WSN responds to queries from any sensor node in the network. Another possibility is to query the MISN in the network, which is the one with the highest mutual information about the target state. This querying scheme has the cost of locating the MISN and routing the target location information query and response packets to and from

it. The cost of locating the most informative sensor node is negligible as described at the end of Chapter 4.

When the MISN is queried, as the power reduction pattern becomes steeper, the exhausted energy drops as shown in Fig. 4.7, and the target localization error decreases as shown in Fig. 4.8. The reason for this is that the less informative sensor nodes begin to harm the target localization performance of the more informative nodes with their marginal information. In Fig. 4.9, we see that the power reduction Pattern 3 consumes the least amount of energy with ICTP. We observe the ceiling effect in the exhausted energy when the number of sensor nodes allowed to communicate reaches 14 (Fig. 4.7). The reason of this ceiling effect lies behind the number of detecting sensor nodes. For the cases studied in the simulated scenario, the mean number of detecting sensor nodes is about 14. Even if we allow more than 14 nodes to communicate, the rest will not have detection information to share with the others. For the cases studied, the mean distance of the most informative sensor node to the target is 2.17 meters. This results in very accurate target localization if the MISN is queried. If the most informative sensor node will be queried, operating at the minimum energy operation point is a rational decision. The minimum energy operation point is achieved only if the MISN shares its information with the neighboring nodes as shown in Fig. 4.7. Transmission power adjustment according to Pattern 3 results in 2.11 times the energy savings on the average compared to having no power adjustment (Fig. 4.7). On average, 23.7 per cent improvement is achieved in the target localization as deduced from Fig. 4.8. This happens due to the filtering of the information coming from the less informative sensor nodes that corrupt the information of the more informative sensor nodes.

A 2.34-fold energy conservation is possible for a desired target tracking accuracy over the no power adjustment scheme as deduced from Fig. 4.9.

We also examine the case where only the MISN broadcasts its data. Thus, other detecting sensor nodes do not transmit, and they consume energy just to process the incoming information signal from the most informative sensor node. The line with stars in Fig. 4.7 depicts the low energy exhausted by the sensor nodes if only the
MISN broadcasts. However, the error of MISN is high as demonstrated with a line with stars in Fig. 4.8, because the MISN changes in time as the target moves. Low level of collaboration results in the new most informative sensor node having low prior information about the target. The prior information obtained by means of collaboration causes the information-filtering performance of the most informative sensor node to improve.

```
Given: Observations r_m(k), \theta_m(k) from the target at time instant k, information state i_i(k) and
      information matrix I_i(k) at time k from the neighboring sensor nodes i, system variables F, Q,
      H.R.
Find: Target position estimate \hat{\mathbf{x}}(k|k) at time k.
      Obtain the observation from the target.
  1: \varphi_m(k) \Leftarrow f(r_m, \theta_m)
      Calculate the information denominations.
 2: \mathbf{i}(k) = \mathbf{H}^T \mathbf{R}^{-1}(k) \varphi_m(k)
 3: \mathbf{I}(k) \Leftarrow \mathbf{H}^T \mathbf{R}^{-1}(k) \mathbf{H}
      Predict the target's next information state.
 4: \hat{\mathbf{y}}(k|k-1) \not\in \mathbf{Y}(k|k-1)\mathbf{F}\mathbf{Y}^{-1}(k-1|k-1)\hat{\mathbf{y}}(k-1|k-1)
 5: \mathbf{Y}(k|k-1) \Leftarrow |\mathbf{F}\mathbf{Y}^{-1}(k-1|k-1)\mathbf{F}^T + \mathbf{Q}|^{-1}
     Local information filter.
 6: \hat{\mathbf{y}}(k|k) \Leftarrow \hat{\mathbf{y}}(k|k-1) + \mathbf{i}(k)
 7: \mathbf{Y}(k|k) \Leftarrow \mathbf{Y}(k|k-1) + \mathbf{I}(k)
      Find own mutual information value.
 8: J(k, \varphi_m(k)) \Leftarrow \frac{1}{2} \log \left[ \frac{|\mathbf{Y}(k|k)|}{|\mathbf{Y}(k|k-1)|} \right]
      Estimate other sensor nodes' mutual information values.
 9: for all sensor such that sensor is a neighbor do
 10: J_{array}(k, \varphi_m(k))[sensor] \Leftarrow \frac{1}{2} \log \left[ \frac{|\tilde{\mathbf{Y}}_{sensur}(k|k)|}{|\tilde{\mathbf{Y}}_{sensur}(k|k-1)|} \right]
 11: end for
      Produce the mutual information content list.
 12: sort J_{array}(k, \varphi_m(k))[sensor]
      Find own sensor node's index value in the mutual information content list.
 13: index \Leftrightarrow index of J(k, \varphi_m(k)) in J_{array}(k, \varphi_m(k))
      Decide to collaborate or not to collaborate. If decision is to collaborate then calculate
      the transmission power and broadcast the denomination values.
 14: if index \leq maximum number of sensor nodes allowed to communicate then
 15: Transmission Power \Leftrightarrow f(index)
 16: Broadcast \mathbf{i}(k) and \mathbf{I}(k)
 17: end if
      Network information filter.
 18: \hat{\mathbf{y}}(k|k) = \hat{\mathbf{y}}(k|k-1) + \sum_{n} \mathbf{i}_{n}(k)
 19: \mathbf{Y}(k|k) = \mathbf{Y}(k|k-1) + \sum_{n} \mathbf{I}_{n}(k)
      Find the target state estimate.
 20: \mathbf{\hat{x}}(k|k) = \mathbf{Y}^{-1}(k|k)\mathbf{\hat{y}}(k|k)
```

Figure 4.3. Pseudo-code of the MISS/ICTP algorithm running on a sensor node described in Fig. 4.1



Figure 4.4. Mean consumed communication energy if any sensor node in the network can be queried.



Figure 4.5. Mean target localization error for different power adjustment patterns if any sensor node in the network can be queried.



Figure 4.6. Effect of power adjustment on the consumed energy for the desired target localization accuracies if any sensor node in the network can be queried.



Figure 4.7. Mean consumed communication energy if the most informative sensor node is queried.



Figure 4.8. Target localization error for different power adjustment patterns if the most informative sensor node is queried.



Figure 4.9. Effect of power adjustment on the consumed energy for the desired target localization accuracies if the most informative sensor node is queried.

5. MULTIPLE SENSOR MULTI-TARGET TRACKING SYSTEM ARCHITECTURES

In this section, architectures for tracking multiple targets using multiple sensors are examined according to their communications cost. The local sensor tracks and the local measurements are the two possible information units to be shared with the sensor network. Also the place of the track fusion for the former and the composite tracker for the later is another classification criteria for the multi-sensor multi-target tracking architectures. In the centralized tracking, local measurements and the local sensor tracks are send to a central track fusion or composite tracking entity. In networkcentric tracking, there is no need for a central entity for track fusion or composite tracking. Multiple-sensor multiple-target tracking system architectures are given in Fig. 5.1.

- Centralized track fusion with reporting responsibility: Local sensor tracker caries on tracking related with its detections, however only the information related with the assigned track are send to a central track database. Optionally, local track database may send the track information in the central track database back to the sensors. Each track is reported by just one sensor, hence, central database only appends the track reports from the responsible sensors.
- Centralized track fusion: Differs from the centralized track fusion with reporting responsibility in the sense that all the local sensor tracks are sent to the central



Figure 5.1. Multi-sensor multi-target tracking architectures.

track fusion center, where the track-to-track association from different sensors takes place.

- Centralized tracking with reporting responsibility: The sensor sends the local sensor measurements related with the target it is responsible for monitoring. The centralized tracker performs the tracking operations. With the knowledge of sensor target assignment, the central tracker knows with which target in the central track database the received sensor measurements are related. Hence, an associator is not needed in this architecture.
- Centralized tracking: Local Sensor measurements are sent to a central composite tracker which performs the association and the tracking of the targets. Optionally, tracks in the central track database may send back to the sensors.
- Network-centric track fusion with reporting responsibility: In this architecture, each sensor updates all of its tracks with own measurements, however only one sensor is responsible for reporting about the track state. The responsible sensor is chosen according to the accuracy of the target state estimate. This architecture, as with the other reporting responsibility architectures, has the problem of deciding and assigning the responsible sensor for the track.
- Network-centric track fusion: Track information related with all the local tracks are shared with the network. Track-to-track fusion takes place in all sensors.
- Network-centric tracking with reporting responsibility: Sensor measurements related with the target that the sensor is responsible for monitoring are shared with the sensor network. Measurements related with the targets that the sensor is not responsible for monitoring are used to track the targets locally. The locally tracked targets are also updated with the measurements received from the other sensors.
- Network-centric tracking: Local sensor measurement reports related with all the detected targets are shared with the network. Composite tracking takes place in every sensor using the remote sensor measurement reports.

We compare the multi-sensor multi-target tracking architectures in terms of their exhausted energies and mean target localization accuracies. For the composite tracking architectures, measurement reports are shared with the network. Information state vector size is four. We reserve 32 bits for each element of the information state. 128 bits are required to share the information state with the network. 10 elements of the 4x4 information matrix are enough to share the information matrix with the network whose each element is represented by 32 bits. A total of 448 bits are needed for a data packet carrying one track measurement report. We reserve 64 bits for auxiliary usage in the data packet. 512 bits long data packets are used for composite tracking architectures. Track fusion architectures require exchange of track position in two dimensions and 3 elements of the 2x2 covariance matrix each is represented by 32 bits. With 64 auxiliary reserved bits 224 bit packets are used for track fusion architectures. We do not need to exchange the information matrix and the covariance matrix for the reporting responsibility architectures. Each track is maintained with their responsible sensors. Hence, the required packet sizes are reduced to 192 and 128 for the composite tracking and the track fusion architectures respectively. We run Monte Carlo simulations that consists of 900 sensors which are randomly deployed in a 20 m \times 200 m area. Five targets move in the area as in Fig. 6.3. The comparison of the exhausted energies and the mean target localization errors for the multi-sensor multi-target tracking system architectures are presented in Fig. 5.2 and Fig. 5.3 respectively. Network-centric tracking exhaust most energy among the other architectures. Reporting responsibility architectures have higher target localization errors. The reason lies behind the lack of collaboration. Centralized tracking architectures require a center node to exists in the system. For the sake of simplicity, we assume one center node in the middle of the surveillance area throughout the scenario, whose energy assumed to be unlimited. 110 meters approximate communication range of a sensor node makes each node in a 20 m \times 200 m area to communicate with the center node. For the practical cases, the center node may be outside the area or the center node may change over time. For the communication energy in the centralized architectures, we assume the sensor nodes transmit with a power sufficient for them to communicate with the center node. Although the centralized track fusion appears to be a good compromise among the multi-sensor multi-target tracking system architectures, the problem with the centralized track fusion architectures arises when the local trackers use different target motion models or operate on different target state spaces [150, 151]. Moreover, the center node

is the single point of failure and a consensus among the sensor nodes is required for the



Figure 5.2. Exhausted energy comparison of the multi-sensor multi-target tracking architectures.

election of the center node. Due to the robustness, reliability, expansibility, modularity, and the distributed operation properties, in Chapter 6, we define a network-centric tracking framework for the WSN nodes and try to achieve the performance improvements in the network-centric tracking architecture.



Figure 5.3. Mean error comparison of the multi-sensor multi-target tracking architectures.

6. COLLABORATIVE DISTRIBUTED MULTI-TARGET TRACKING FRAMEWORK

The distributed multi-target tracking framework is presented in Fig. 6.1. Modules shown at the upper part of the track list manager module belong to the network track manager part. Modules shown at the lower part of the track list manager module belong to the local track manager part.

On the local track manager part, the sensor receives the targets range and bearing data with the aid of its sensory circuit. Information extractor converts the range and bearing data related to the targets within the sensors detection range into the information denomination form according to (2.5). These information denominations are passed to the local plot list manager. Elements of an entry in the local plot list manager are the information state and the information matrix denomination values. The local plot list manager can have only one plot related with a track. In other words, we assume each target can generate at most one plot for the sensor. Since the origins of the plots in the plot list manager are unknown, we cannot know with which target the received plot is related. Local track associator takes the current track list from the track list manager whose elements are the information state and the information matrix related with the currently tracked targets, and associates the denominations in the plot list manager with them. In order to carry out the distributed data association, using (2.8) each sensor calculates the predicted states and the covariances of the targets in their track-lists using their predicted information state and the information matrix. Afterwards, a list whose elements are the states of the detections from the targets in the vicinity is formed. Likelihood of each plot in the plot list to the targets in the track list is calculated according to the Gaussian distributions whose means are the predicted states and the covariances as the inverse of the information matrix predicted in the prediction phase. Each target in the track list can be assigned only one plot from the plot list. Associated information denomination and track pairs are passed to the information update filter to update the current track state. Detailed investigations



Figure 6.1. Distributed multi-target tracking framework.

related with the track update filter algorithms can be found in MS. thesis by Tolgay [152]. Information denominations are passed to the collaboration logic manager to be sent to the neighboring sensors. Collaboration logic manager decides to share or not to share the denomination values with the neighboring sensors. Denominations that cannot be associated with the current tracks in the track list are sent to the local track initiator. New track initiation takes place right after several continuous detections received from the target. Each information denomination value is assigned to the track to whom it has the maximum likelihood with the constraint that only one information denomination can be associated with one track and with one track at most one information denomination can be associated. In order to satisfy these constraints, the association of the information denominations in the local plot list to the tracks in the track list is achieved by evaluating the association likelihoods in a joint manner. The local track initiator initiates a track and sends the track information to the track list manager in order to be added to the track list only if the track initiation criterion is satisfied. e.g., eight continuous detections from the same target have been received. Detailed investigations of the local track initiation logic by Akduran in his MS. study [153] show a good compromise with a modified M out of N local track initiation logic in the cluttered environments.

On the network track manager part; communication circuit of the sensor receives the information state and the information matrix denominations from the neighboring sensor which have been decided to be shared with the sensor network by the sensors that are detecting the target. Different than the local plot list manager, the network track information denomination list manager may have many plots received from different sensors related with one track. The network track associator, associates the information denominations in the network track information denomination list manager with the tracks in the track list manager. Shared information between sensors are the denominations related with the observations, not the target state estimations. The associator needs target state estimations in order to associate denominations with them. One solution is to put the burden on the communication and sharing target state estimates together with the denominations. Instead, by putting the burden on computation, we update the the local target state estimates with the received denominations and afterwards perform the most likely association in a joint manner. The constraint in the network track associator is that each plot can be assigned at most one target. A sensor receiving an information matrix and the information state, calculates the target state information related with the received information from the neighboring sensors. For each received information, likelihood values according to the local track states are calculated. As the mean and the covariance values of the local track states, we use the predicted states and the covariances of them. Associated denomination-track pairs are sent to the information update filter which updates track states and send them to the track list manager. Denominations that cannot be associated with the tracks in the track list manager are sent to the network track initiator to initiate a track immediately and to send them to the track list manager. Tracks that have not been detected or reported from the neighbors for the last several cycles (e.g., eight) have been deleted from the track database in the track list manager.

For both local and the network track manager parts of the distributed multitarget tracking framework, we use the same validation region definition from [56] given as;

$$(\boldsymbol{\varphi} - \mathbf{H}\overline{\mathbf{x}})^T \mathbf{B}^{-1} (\boldsymbol{\varphi} - \mathbf{H}\overline{\mathbf{x}}) < 1$$

where;

$\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{H}\overline{\mathbf{P}}\mathbf{H}^T + \mathbf{R}.$

Target-plot pairs are deemed as related if they satisfy the above criterion, and not related otherwise. Both local and network track associations are done only among related pairs.

The algorithm of a sensor node that implements the described multi-sensor multitarget tracking architecture is given in Fig. 6.2.

The time complexity of the multi-target tracking algorithm is $O(|S_m(k)|E_T)$.

Where, $|S_m(k)|$ is the cardinality of the set of neighboring sensor nodes and E_T is the number of targets in the vicinity. Assuming every target in the vicinity is detected, multi-target tracking algorithm requires $479200E_T + 18450|S_m(k)| + 50$ cpu cycles with the assumption that each floating point operation can be performed in 50 cpu cycles [149]. Moreover, typical 15 neighboring sensor nodes and five targets utilize 20.56 per cent cpu of an xbow sensor node with an Intel PXA271 xscale processor [4] working with 13 MHz in low frequency mode. The processor frequency can be scaled up to 416 MHz. PXA271 processor exhausts 10.73 nJ per cpu cycle [4]. Using 2 × AA batteries each of which has 11050 J energy can operate the sensor node that runs the multitarget tracking algorithm depicted in Fig. 6.2 with a typical of 15 neighbor sensors and five targets in tracking mode for 180.43 days.

6.1. On the Performance of the Collaboration Logic Manager Part of the Collaborative Distributed Multi-Target Tracking Framework

We run Monte Carlo simulations that consist of 900 sensors which are randomly deployed in a 20 m \times 200 m valley bottom type strip area. Five targets move according to the process model described in Section 2.1. Fig. 6.3 shows the scenario. We use the parameters for the TWR-ISM-002-I radar [3], whose typical detection range is 18 meters. In our simulations, we use the shadow-fading radio propagation model for the communication signals whose parameters are given in Table 3.1. All data points in the result graphs represent the means of fifteen runs.

The mean target localization error decreases as the number of targets that a sensor is allowed to report to the network increases. This phenomena is shown in Fig. 6.4 which depicts the target localization performance of the three different target selection strategies. In the random target selection strategy, collaboration logic manager selects a random subset of the detected targets about whose information denomination values will be shared with the network. Targets that have the lower Mahalanobis distance between the estimated target position and the updated target position with the latest measurement are selected in minimum Mahalanobis distance based target selection. This selection is done according to the volume of the improvement achieved



Figure 6.2. The algorithm of a sensor node to implement the distributed multi-target tracking framework.



Figure 6.3. Illustration of the valley bottom type strip simulation scenario.



Figure 6.4. Mean target localization error of a sensor node.



Figure 6.5. Mean exhausted energy of a sensor node.

in the target state information obtained with the latest observation. Higher the abovementioned improvement, higher the mutual information sensor has about the target state. Information denominations of the targets about whom the sensor has more mutual information are selected to be transmitted to the network. Fig. 6.4 shows that the best target localization performance is achieved by selecting the targets according to the mutual information metric. Mutual information equation is given by

$$J(k, \boldsymbol{\varphi}(k)) = \frac{1}{2} \log \left[\frac{|\mathbf{Y}(k \mid k)|}{|\mathbf{Y}(k \mid k - 1)|} \right],$$

where $\mathbf{Y}(k \mid k)$ is the information matrix at the time instant k after the target state is observed. The mean exhausted energy by each sensor is depicted in Fig. 6.5. 19 per cent more accurate target localization is possible by exhausting 36 per cent more energy by allowing two targets to be reported to the neighboring sensors instead of one. Six per cent more accurate target localization can be performed by allowing three target information to be shared with the neighboring sensors instead of two with the expense of 33 per cent more energy exhausting. We can localize targets four per cent more accurate by allowing four targets information to be shared instead of three. The penalty of



Figure 6.6. Mean target localization error of a sensor node compared to the non-collaborative tracking error.

allowing four targets information to be shared instead of three was 24 per cent. Finally, three per cent more accurate target localization is possible by allowing information related to five targets to be shared with the neighboring sensors by exhausting 19 per cent more energy. We have a decreasing pattern of target localization error gain as the maximum number of targets about whom the information denominations will be broadcast by a sensor to the network increases. However, the penalty of exhausted energy paid to transmit more targets' information denomination values to the network keeps almost constant for every additional target to report.

Comparison with only the local tracking mode is shown in Figures 6.6 and 6.7. The zero value of the maximum number of targets to be reported by a sensor in the x-axis of these graphs corresponds to the case in which the sensors tracking the target with their local observations without collaborating with the neighboring sensors.

Simulation results showed that the collaboration improves the tracking performance. However, improvements achieved by sharing more than one target information



Figure 6.7. Mean exhausted energy of a sensor node compared to the non-collaborative exhausted energy.

with the neighboring sensors result in the increased exhausted energy. Hence, sharing only one target information with the neighboring sensors is a rational decision for the studied cases. Now, the problem is to decide which target information to share among the detected targets. For a single target, in Chapter 3 it was shown that the mutual information is a good measure to select the subset of the sensors to collaborate. Our simulations show that sharing the information denominations of the targets whose mutual information index among the detected targets is higher, results with the better target localization accuracy among the random and the minimum Mahalanobis distance based target selection strategies.

Although the focus of our simulations were on the collaboration logic manager part of the collaborative distributed multi-target tracking framework described in Fig. 6.1, keeping the number of shared tracks low, reduces the computational complexity of the network track associator modules of the sensors.

We compare the target localization performances of the single-target tracking

algorithm without sensor selection and power adjustment with the multi-target tracking algorithm with one target and perfect association in a 100 m \times 100 m area for 100 seconds with 50 sensor nodes and 10 sensor nodes. for 50 sensor nodes the mean target localization error is 0.5723 m for the single-target tracking algorithm and 0.5548 m for the multi-target tracking algorithm with 50 sensor nodes. With 10 sensor nodes in the surveillance area, the mean target localization error is 1.9714 m for the multitarget tracking algorithm and 1.9856 m for the single-target tracking algorithm. Hence, single-target and the multi-target tracking algorithms perform similar while five times less sensor node usage results in 3.5 times increase in the target localization error.

6.2. Association Problems for Multi-Target Tracking

In order a sensor node to follow the states of the multiple targets, the major problem is to associate the sensory observation with the previous targets in the sensor node's track list. False associations result in the updating of the track states in the sensor node's track list with the wrong observations. As will be shown in the performance evaluation of the association algorithms in Section 6.4, false associations consequently reduces the target localization accuracies of the sensor nodes drastically. If sensor nodes collaborate with each other, aiming to increase the target localization accuracies, the more challenging problem, for associating the neighboring sensor node's target kinematics reports to the tracks in the sensor nodes track list, arises. We call the former as the *local association* and the later as the *network association*. The local association constitutes the relations between the sensory measurement and the tracks in the sensor nodes track list, hence it is the measurement-to-track association, whereas the network association relates the received track reports of the neighboring sensor nodes to the tracks in the track list of the sensor node, hence it is the track-to-track association. In [56], hypothesis testing is proposed to solve the local association problem. If sensor node S_m has two targets in the track list and observes three targets at time k, the hypotheses can be formed by;

1. The probability that all the three new observations are related with the three new targets, maximizes the number of targets in the sensor node's target list. In this case, the sensor node will have five targets in the target list. The sensor node is not detecting the two targets in the target list and detecting the three new targets. We can number to the old targets in the sensor node's track list as 1 and 2, and plausible new targets as 3, 4, and 5.

- 2. Local association hypotheses for the three new observations with the two existing tracks in the track list of a sensor node are as in Table 6.1. The sensor node has 13 hypotheses to test. The hypothesis with the highest probability will be the valid association. The hypothesis in the first line (1,2,5) of Table 6.1 states that the observation 1 is related with the track 1, the observation 2 is related with the track 2, and the observation 3 is the new track with number 5. The following hypothesis in Table 6.1 can be interpreted similarly.
- 3. While calculating the possibility of the hypothesis 1, the sensor node needs three possibilities. Namely, the possibility of the observation 1 is related with the track 1, the possibility of the observation 2 is related with the track 2, and the possibility of the observation 3 is the new track.
- 4. Summing these three possibilities yields with the possibility of the hypothesis 1.
- 5. Calculation of the probability that an observation O_n is related with a track T_s in the track list can be carried on by estimating the T_s 's state at time k with the aid of T_s 's state at time k 1 in the sensor node's track list. This operation is called the *time update* phase of the track. Similarly the covariance \mathbf{P}_s , measuring the reliability of the T_s 's state at time k can be estimated with the track filtering operations. Finally, the position of the new observation O_n in the Gaussian distribution whose mean is the estimated track state and the covariance is the estimated track covariance is interpreted as the possibility that the observation is related with the track.

Each track in the track list of the sensor node is updated using the observation obtained from the association hypothesis with the highest probability. This update of the track list is called the *measurement update* phase. In hypothesis of Table 6.1, false alarms and clutters are not considered.

the two existing tracks.				
observation 1	observation 2	observation 3		
1	2	5		
1	4	2		
1	4	5		
2	1	5		
2	4	1		
2	4	5		
3	1	2		
3	1	5		
3	2	1		
3	2	5		
3	4	1		
3	4	2		
3	4	5		

Table 6.1. Hypothesis matrix for the association of the three new observations with

network association problem differs from the local association problem in the sense that the former is related with the target reports received from the communication circuitry of the sensor node, while the later is related with the sensor node's own sensory observation.

The main difference among the local and the network association problems lies in the fact that one target can be observed at most once with the sensor node's on board sensor, where as one target can be reported as many times as the number of detecting sensors in the communication range of the sensor node. Hence, the constraint of one target can be associated with at most one observation, is applicable for the local association, whereas for the network association this constraint is not applicable.

6.3. Fuzzy Network Association

Sensor node maintains a validation region for each track in the track list. Every observation report from the neighboring sensor node within this validation region is a candidate for updating the related track. Observation reports of the neighboring sensor nodes, that fall outside of the validation regions of all the track's in the track list, are deemed as the new track and added immediately to the track list of the sensor node. Size of the validation region directly affects to the number of false initiated network tracks.

If the observation report from the neighboring sensor node, lies within the validation region of just one track in the track list, then the target report is associated immediately with that track. The problem arises if the observation report from the neighboring sensor node lies within the validation region of more than one tracks in the track list of the sensor node. One possible solution to break the tie is to associate the report from the neighboring sensor with the track, which has the minimum distance according to a metric, in the track list. Candidate metrics for this association are the Euclid distance, the Mahalanobis distance, and the likelihood measure of the report to the track.

Instead of relying on just one metric for the network association decision, we aim to rely on more than one metrics. With this aim, we take the advantage of fuzzy logic in mapping different metrics into a single crisp value to be used in the network association decision. Fuzzy logic also has the advantage of modeling the complex real world with the expertise that can be expressed easily using the rule set defined by a model similar to the human reasoning.

Fuzzy association of measurements to existing target tracks was investigated in [154, 155, 156, 157, 158, 159]. Due to the large number of rules in the fuzzy knowledge base, the fuzzy logic approach in [154] is computationally infeasible for more than three or four targets. A fuzzy measurement to track association that can handle the cases, where the measurements are not well described as Gaussian random variables

is proposed in [115]. In [160] an adaptive neuro-fuzzy inference system with fuzzy clustering means algorithm is used for measurement-to-track association. A fuzzy clustering means algorithm is proposed in [161] for track to track association and track fusion that requires all the sensor track information to be collected in a fusion center for processing. A voting based fuzzy rule base is proposed in [162] and [163] to support the handoff decision of the mobile terminals in an environment with the mobile access points.

A sensor node S_m uses three fuzzy variables in order to associate the target observation report T_r of a neighboring sensor node S_n with a track T_l in the track list. These three fuzzy variables are;

- 1. Euclid distance between T_r and T_l .
- 2. Direction difference between T_r and T_l .
- 3. Speed difference between T_r and T_l .

Each of the three fuzzy variables has three fuzzy sets named *LOW*, *MEDIUM*, and *HIGH*. Membership functions of the three fuzzy variables are depicted in Figures 6.8, 6.9, and 6.10 for the Euclid distance, direction difference, and the speed difference respectively.

We design a fuzzy system with the product inference rule and the centroid defuzzifier. A rule base to mimic the real world behavior is designed by consulting to the voting results among the defined fuzzy variables. Each fuzzy variable votes one of the *high, medium,* or *low* decision in order to express the degree of belief regarding that T_r is associated with T_l . Three fuzzy variables can reach to the consensus in seven different ways as shown in Table 6.2. Three good votes, i.e. low Euclid distance, low speed difference, and low velocity difference, of the fuzzy variables result with the seventh rule class. Likewise three bad votes result with the first rule class. Consensus on three good, means that it is most likely that T_r reported by the neighboring sensor is representing the same physical object with T_l in the track list. Similarly, consensus on three bad means, it is most likely that T_r and T_l are representing different physical ob-



Figure 6.8. Membership functions of the Euclid distance.



Figure 6.9. Membership functions of the velocity difference.



Figure 6.10. Membership functions of the direction difference.



Figure 6.11. Output membership function.

Voting result	Rule class
3 Bad	1
2 Bad	2
1 Bad	3
Draw	4
1 Good	5
2 Good	6
3 Good	7

Table 6.2. Rule classes corresponding to the voting results.

jects. Three voters with three different vote types can result in $3^3 = 27$ different types of voting as in Table 6.3. Using Table 6.2, possible 27 different cases that can happen with three voters of three different vote types are classified into seven rule classes as in in Table 6.3. *High* Euclid distance, *high* speed difference, and *high* direction difference between T_r and T_l as in the first line of Table 6.3 means three bad votes and consensus on three bad is the first rule class in Table 6.2. 27 lines in Table 6.3 are the fuzzy rules of the fuzzy inference system.

Euclid distance, speed difference, and direction difference between T_r and T_l are the inputs of the fuzzy network association algorithm. 22.5 degree direction difference is interpreted as 40 per cent *low*, 40 per cent *medium* 0 per cent *high* as in Fig. 6.10. Together with other input fuzzy variables and using the rule base in Table 6.3, the input variables are mapped to the output fuzzy variable shown in Fig. 6.11. Finally the output of the FUNA is a real *crisp value* value between 1 and 7. Unrelated tracks generate lower crisp values, whereas the related tracks generate higher crisp values.

6.4. Performance Evaluation of FUNA

We investigate the FUNA performance in terms of the number of false network associations and the target localization error with the simulation scenario in Fig. 6.12. 30 sensors in a 50 m \times 50 m area are tracking seven targets for 50 seconds. We compare FUNA performance with the maximum likelihood, the minimum Euclid distance,

Euclid distance	Speed difference	Direction difference	Rule class
Н	Н	Н	1
Н	Н	М	2
Н	Н	L	3
Н	М	Н	2
Н	М	М	3
Н	М	L	4
Н	L	Н	3
Н	L	М	4
Н	L	L	5
М	Н	Н	2
М	Н	М	3
М	Н	L	4
М	М	Н	3
М	М	М	4
М	М	L	5
М	L	Н	4
М	L	М	5
М	L	L	6
L	Н	Н	3
L	Н	М	4
L	Н	L	5
L	М	Н	4
L	М	М	5
L	М	L	6
L	L	Н	5
L	L	М	6
L	L	L	7

Table 6.3. Fuzzy rules in the knowledge base.



Figure 6.12. FUNA tracking scenario for seven targets.

and the minimum Mahalanobis distance based network association performances. The results are in Table 6.4, where the total number of true and false network associations, the mean target localization error, and the mean sensor track list length for all the sensors are presented. Each value in Table 6.4 represents the mean of the 50 simulation runs with different random seeds effecting the detection, communication, and deployment states of the sensor nodes. The total number of true network associations are presented in Fig. 6.13. The total number of false network associations are presented in Fig. 6.14. The mean target localization errors are presented in Fig. 6.15. The mean track list length for each sensor is presented in Fig. 6.16. FUNA performs 15 per cent less false network association when compered to the Euclid distance based network association. The Euclid distance based network association performance is better than the Mahalanobis and the likelihood distance based network association performances in terms of the total number of false network associations. FUNA 26 per cent reduces the target localization errors. In Tables 6.5 and 6.6, over 99.99 per cent significance for the false network association and the target localization error performance improvements gained with FUNA is shown respectively with the confidence tests.

With FUNA, sensor at position (28,16) which has a star in it tracks the seven

	Euclid	Mahalanobis	likelihood	FUNA	omniscient
total number of	59510	57184	55043	62686	80447
true network as-					
sociations					
total number of	19998	22591	24694	16872	0
false network as-					
sociations					
mean target lo-	3.84	4.33	4.39	2.84	0.3
calization error					
mean sensor	7.32	8.19	8.28	7.35	6.86
track list length					

Table 6.4. Number of true and false network associations, mean target localization error, and mean sensor track list length for the scenario of tracking seven targets.



Figure 6.13. Total number of true network associations for the seven targets scenario.



Figure 6.14. Total number of false network associations for the seven targets scenario.



Figure 6.15. Mean target localization error for the seven targets scenario.



Figure 6.16. Mean track list length for the seven targets scenario.

	Euclid	Mahalanobis	Likelihood	FUNA
Euclid	1	$1.07x10^{-4}$	$6.11x10^{-10}$	$2.39x10^{-6}$
Mahalanobis		1	$2.9x10^{-3}$	$5.69x10^{-15}$
Likelihood			1	$1.36x10^{-20}$
FUNA				1

Table 6.5. Significance for the number of false associations.

Table 6.6. Significance for the mean target localization error.

	Euclid	Mahalanobis	Likelihood	FUNA
Euclid	1	$2x10^{-2}$	$8.6x10^{-3}$	$3.11x10^{-7}$
Mahalanobis		1	0.755	$8.53x10^{-14}$
Likelihood			1	$7.73x10^{-15}$
FUNA				1

targets as in Fig. 6.12. Squares show the true positions of the targets, * symbols show the estimated position of the target by the sensor with a star in it.

The last line of Table 6.4, shows the mean track list length of each sensor node throughout the scenario. If the sensor nodes would associate each network track report with the true track in the track list, each sensor node would follow on the average 6.86 tracks of the seven tracks in the 50 seconds scenario. As the false network track initiations caused by the false network associations begin, the average number of tracks followed by each sensor node increases up to 8.28 for the likelihood based network association. This situation arises when the association of the neighboring sensor node track report with an existing track in the track list cannot be established and a new track is initiated in the track list. These new network track initiations are not always true network track initiations. Some of them are false network track initiations. This is the reason behind having more than seven tracks in the track list of a sensor node. For the examined network association metrics, the number of false network associations throughout the 50 seconds scenario are shown in Fig. 6.17. In the first 20 seconds of the scenario, Euclid based network association performance is better, whereas after 20 seconds, FUNA performance is better when the total number of false network associations are considered. Revisiting the simulation scenario in Fig. 6.12 by considering the mobility patterns of the seven targets, relative movements seems similar for the first 20 seconds and starts to deviate from each other afterwards. Relative directions and speeds of the seven targets are similar in the first 20 seconds, dissimilar afterwards. We can say that FUNA performance is better when the relative directions and speeds of the tracks in the track list are dissimilar.

Omniscient method shows the case in which none of the network associations are false. The sensor node always associates the new track report with the correct track in the track list. Omniscient method is a hypothetical method for determining the upper limit of the target localization performance if we could have a perfect method for associating the network track reports from neighboring sensor nodes with the tracks in the track list.



Figure 6.17. Total number of false network associations throughout the 50 seconds scenario.

According to the two-sample t-test [164], the confidences related with the significance that the total number of false network associations differ among the examined network association algorithms are as in Table 6.5. The value one in Table 6.5 means corresponding two algorithms performs the same. The closer the value in Table 6.5 to zero means that the corresponding network association algorithms differs more significantly in terms of the number of false associations. We have 0.0000239 significant difference between the FUNA and the Euclid network association metrics. We conclude that FUNA and Euclid based network association algorithms are differ from each other with 99.99 per cent confidence.

Similarly, significance values for the target localization errors are presented in Table 6.6.

The box and whisker plot [165] with the minimum, the maximum, and the median values of the number of false network associations obtained from the 50 runs with



Figure 6.18. Minimum, maximum and median values for the total number of false network associations in the seven targets scenario.

different random seeds are presented in Fig. 6.18. Horizontal lines in the middle of the boxes represent the median value of the 50 runs. Upper and the lower boundaries of the boxes represent the median of the upper and the lower half of the data points respectively. Horizontal lines at the top and the bottom represent the minimum and the maximum values in 50 simulation runs. Plus signs below the minimum line and above the maximum line represent the values labeled as the outlier values. If the notches in the middle of the boxes do not overlap two data group differs from each other with 0.05 significance (95 per cent confidence).

Similarly, the box and whisker plot for the mean target localization errors are presented in Fig. 6.19.

We examine the scenario with 300 sensor nodes and 10 targets in a 50 m \times 500 m area for 300 seconds. The mobility patterns of the 10 targets in the 300 seconds simulation scenario are presented in Fig. 6.20. The total number of true network associations, the total number of false network associations, the total number of mean target localization error, and the mean sensor track list lengths for the Euclid, Mahalanobis,


Figure 6.19. Minimum, maximum and median values for the mean target localization errors in the seven targets scenario.

likelihood, FUNA, and the omniscient methods are as in Table 6.7. The total number of false network associations for the examined network association metrics are shown in Fig. 6.21. The mean target localization errors for the examined network association metrics are shown in Fig. 6.22. Although FUNA performs 37.56 per cent better that the Mahalanobis, 36.8 per cent better than the likelihood based network association, Euclid based network association performs 1.29 per cent better than FUNA in terms of the number of false network associations. Performance difference in FUNA and the Euclid based network association in terms of the number of false network associations is not significant. Fig. 6.23 shows that in the first 160 seconds of the scenario, Euclid based network association. Examining the target mobility patterns in Fig. 6.20 drives us to the conclusion that, in the first half of the scenario, tracks were moving to the similar directions with similar speeds with respect to each other, whereas in the second half of the scenario, where FUNA performance was better, tracks were moving to the different directions with more speed differences with respect to each other. Although FUNA performance was slightly worse that the Euclid based network association algorithm, the mean target localization error for FUNA was 7.42 per cent better than the Euclid based network association algorithm. FUNA target localization performance was also 37.69 per cent better than the Mahalanobis based network association algorithm, 33.89 per cent better than the likelihood based network association algorithm. Target localization error of the omniscient method shown in the last column of Table 6.7 is 88.82 per cent better than FUNA. If the sensor node could be able to associate all the neighboring sensor node's track reports with the correct tracks in the track list, 88.82 per cent better target localization accuracy would be possible. Track list lengths in the last row of Table 6.7 can give intuition about the number of false network track initiations. If no false network track initiation would happen 5.7867 tracks on the average would take place in the track list of a sensor node. This is the average track list length of the omniscient method. More the track list lengths means more the false network track initiations.

The total number of the true network associations throughout the 300 seconds scenario are as in Fig. 6.24. Omniscient method in Fig. 6.24 represents the upper limit for the number of true network associations. We conclude from the previous two simulation scenarios that for the targets which have direction and speed differences relative to each other, FUNA outperforms the Euclid based network association. In order to support our conclusion, we design a scenario with meandering targets.

We compare the target localization, the network association, and the network track initiation performances of FUNA with the Euclid and the likelihood based network association algorithms for the meandering targets whose mobility patterns are shown in Figures 6.25, 6.26, and 6.27 from the viewpoints of the sensors at location (10,16), (138,6), and (292,7) respectively. Circles represent the sensor node positions, squares represent the real target trajectories, * symbols represent the estimated position of the target by the sensor node. Total number of true and false network associations, mean target localization error and the mean track list length for the meandering targets scenario are compared for the FUNA, Euclid, and likelihood based network association metrics in Table 6.8. The total number of false network associations for the examined



Figure 6.20. Scenario of 10 targets in the 50 m \times 500 m simulation area.

	Euclid	Mahalanobis	likelihood	FUNA	omniscient
Total number of true	2828400	2517100	2525900	2824400	3371600
network associations					
Total number of false	506980	822510	812540	513580	0
network associations					
Mean target localiza-	6.0698	9.0191	8.5009	5.6200	0.6288
tion error					
Mean sensor track list	6.5360	8.5379	8.4757	6.6918	5.7867
length					

Table 6.7. Total number of true and false network associations, mean target localization error, and the mean sensor track list length for the 300 seconds scenario.



Figure 6.21. Total number of false network associations for 10 targets scenario.



Figure 6.22. Mean target localization error for the 10 targets scenario.



Figure 6.23. Total number of false network associations throughout 300 seconds for the 10 targets scenario.



Figure 6.24. Total number of true network associations throughout 300 seconds for the 10 targets scenario.



Figure 6.25. Viewpoint of the sensor at (10,16) for the meandering targets.

network association metrics are compared in Fig. 6.28. The mean target localization errors for the examined network association metrics are compared in Fig. 6.29. Total number of false and true network associations throughout the 300 seconds scenario for the meandering targets are as in Figures 6.30 and 6.31 respectively.

FUNA 83.563 per cent reduces the number of false network associations for the meandering targets. Reduction in the target localization error is 69.45 per cent with FUNA w.r.t. the Euclid based network association algorithm.

Simulation scenarios show that for the meandering targets, FUNA drastically outperforms Euclid based network association algorithm. However, for the targets moving relatively to the similar direction with similar speeds, Euclid based network association performance is better. As the future work, we envision a "Hybrid Association Model" (HAM) in which if the tracks in the track list of a sensor node moves relatively to a similar direction with similar speeds, the network association is done according to the Euclid metric. Just after the relative direction and the speed differences among the tracks in the track list of the sensor node exceeds a threshold, network association is done with FUNA.



Figure 6.26. Viewpoint of the sensor at (138,6) for the meandering targets.



Figure 6.27. Viewpoint of the sensor at (292,7) for the meandering targets.

Associations	Likelihood	Euclid	FUNA
Total number of false	203480	201020	33042
network associations			
Total number of true	300540	302620	471480
network associations			
Mean target localiza-	5.2190	5.3131	1.6234
tion error			
Mean sensor track list	2.8715	1.8843	1.8387
length			

Table 6.8. Total number of true and false network associations, mean target localization error, and the mean sensor track list length for the meandering targets.



Figure 6.28. Total number of false network associations for the meandering targets scenario.



Figure 6.29. Total number of true network associations for the meandering targets scenario.



Figure 6.30. Total number of false network associations throughout the 300 seconds for the meandering targets scenario.



Figure 6.31. Total number of true network associations throughout the 300 seconds for the meandering targets scenario.

7. CONCLUSIONS

A mutual information based measure is adopted to select the most informative subset of the sensor nodes to actively participate in the distributed data fusion framework, where the duty of the WSN is to accurately localize and track the targets. The DDF architecture takes advantage of the long communication range of the wireless sensor devices, relative to their sensing range, and facilitates a sensor node to update its belief about the current state of the target. With the detection reports from its neighbors, a belief update takes place even if the sensor is not detecting the target. The information obtained from the neighboring nodes about an approaching target before it is sensed reduces the target localization error by improving the target state filtering performance.

A new communication transmission power adjustment scheme is proposed to further improve the energy savings while preserving the tracking quality constraints. Sensor nodes adjust their transmission powers in proportion to their knowledge: those that know more about the target state should use more power to share their information. Tests indicate that the performance of the proposed power adjustment scheme depends on the network querying technique. If the application is delay-sensitive and needs an immediate response from the network, any sensor node in the WSN can respond right away to the query with an acceptable target localization error. If the application can tolerate some delay and has strict target localization error constraints, querying just the MISN improves the target localization performance. The proposed Information-Controlled Transmission Power adjustment scheme improves the energy savings while preserving the desired target tracking accuracy when the most informative node is queried. However, querying any sensor node, while reducing the transmission powers of the less informative sensor nodes, ends up with drastically worse target tracking accuracies.

For the cases studied, simulation results show that 75 per cent energy savings can be achieved for a given tracking quality by selecting the sensor nodes to cooperate according to the mutual information measure. Moreover, if the sensor network queries are to be routed to the MISN within one hop distance of the query entry node, 2.34 times more energy savings compared to the no power adjustment scheme can be achievable by adjusting the communication transmission powers of the sensor nodes.

A fully distributed collaborative multi-target tracking framework is described for the distributed data fusion architecture. With the proposed architecture, the need for a central data associator node or a central coordinating node is eliminated. Every node in the network is capable of tracking all the targets in the network. The presence of multiple targets brings along challenges with measurement-to-measurement association, measurement-to-track association track-to-track association and track-to-sensor association. In the multiple target case, sensor nodes would report only about the target which they were associated to. Simulation results show that collaborating information denomination values of the target about whom the sensor has the maximum mutual information is a rational decision.

A fuzzy inference system is defined to support the network association. Network association relates the neighboring sensor reports with the tracks in the track list of the sensor node. A rule base for the fuzzy inference system is formed by consulting to the voting results among the fuzzy variables. Fuzzy network association (FUNA) reduces the false network associations 83.5 per cent, the mean target localization error by 69.45 per cent for the meandering targets.

It is generally assumed that all sensor nodes send reliable data to the network. In the future work, the detection of faulty and outlier sensor nodes in the network, and possible precautions that can be taken against them can be investigated. The scenarios which we simulate were not containing the clutter or false alarms on the sensory observations. Also our scenarios were with the fixed number of targets. Test with scenarios containing clutter, false alarm, dynamic target initiation and termination can be done. Sensors with different sensing modalities (i.e. bearing only acoustic sensor) can be examined. We initiate a target report from the neighboring sensor node as a track immediately. This increases the false network track initiations. More sophisticated algorithms for deciding the network track initiation are required. Outlier sensor detection can also reduce the false network track initiations. For the meandering targets FUNA performance is better than the Euclid metric based network association. However, for the targets moving in relatively similar directions and speeds, Euclid metric based network association algorithm is better. A Hybrid association model that monitors the direction and speed differences of the targets in the track list of the sensor node is envisioned for the network association decision. When the relative speeds and the directions of the tracks in the track list increase, network association is done with FUNA, otherwise Euclid metric is used for the network association. Monitored relative speed and direction differences of the tracks in the track list of a sensor node may help the adaptive fuzzy membership function usage. The type of the target information may also be used for the adaptive fuzzy membership value determination. Multi-target tracking architectures other than the network-centric tracking architecture defined in Chapter 5 can be examined in detail. Besides the effect of 3-D topographical surfaces, the effect of obstacles and jamming that may cause the tracking system can be examined. We assume synchronized sampling and communication among the sensor nodes. Asynchronous algorithms can be investigated in order to get rid of the synchronization cost among the sensor nodes.

REFERENCES

- 1. Alberts, D. S., J. J. Garstka, and F. P. Stein, *Network Centric Warfare: Developing and Leveraging Information Superiority*, CCRP Publications, 2000.
- Dutta, P. K. and A. K. Arora, "Integrating Micropower Impulse Radar and Motes", Technical Report OSU-CISRC-12/03-TR67, The Ohio State University, 2003.
- 3. Advantaca, http://www.advantaca.com, 2006.
- 4. Crossbow, http://www.xbow.com, 2006.
- Papoulis, A., Probability, Random Variables and Stochastic Processes, McGraw-Hill Inter-national Editions, 3 edition, 1991.
- Meirer, L., J. Peschon, and R. Dressler, "Optimal Control of Measurement Subsystems", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, Vol. 12, pp. 528–536, 1967.
- Oshman, Y., "Optimal Sensor Selection Strategy for Discrete Time State Estimators", *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, Vol. 30, pp. 307–314, 1994.
- Kagami, S. and M. Ishikawa, "A Sensor Selection Method Considering Communication Delays", *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Robotics* and Automation, Vol. 1, pp. 206–211, 2004.
- Gupta, V., T. Chung, B. Hassibi, and R. M. Murray, "Sensor Scheduling Algorithms Requiring Limited Computation", *Proceedings of the International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing*, 2004.
- Longo, M., T. D. Lookabaugh, and R. M. Gray, "Quantization for Decentralized Hypothesis Testing Under Communication Constraints", *IEEE Transactions on*

Information Theory, Vol. 36(2), pp. 241–255, March 1990.

- Liggins, M. E., C.-Y. Chong, I. Kadar, M. G. Alford, V. Vannicola, and S. Thomopoulos, "Distributed Fusion Architectures and Algorithms for Target Tracking", *Proceedings of the IEEE*, Vol. 85, pp. 95–107, 1997.
- Jiang, S., R. Kumar, and H. E. Garcia, "Optimal Sensor Selection for Discrete-Event Systems with Partial Observation", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, Vol. 48, No. 3, pp. 369–381, 2003.
- Kobayashi, F., D. Masumoto, and F. Kojima, "Sensor Selection Based on Fuzzy Inference for Sensor Fusion", *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference* on Fuzzy Systems, pp. 305–310, Budapest, Hungary, July 2004.
- Kobayashi, F., F. Arai, and T. Fukuda, "Sensor Selection by Reliability Based on Possibility Measure", *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation*, pp. 2614–2619, 1999.
- Carlomusto, M., K. Giammarco, and J. D. Lock, "Development and Analysis of Integrated C4ISR Architectures", *Proceedings of the Military Communications Conference*, Vol. 4, pp. 2005 – 2011, October 2005.
- Gross, P., J. T. Mangan, and K. L. Godrich, "Assuring Operational Continuity in C4ISR Facilities", Proceedings of the Industrial and Commercial Power Systems Technical Conference, pp. 1–8, April 2006.
- Bolderheij, F. and P. van Genderen, "Mission Driven Sensor Management", Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Fusion, pp. 799–804, Stockholm, Sweden, June 2004.
- Paradis, S., A. Benaskeur, M. Oxenham, and P. Cutler, "Threat Evaluation and Weapons Allocation in Network-centric Warfare", *Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Fusion*, pp. 1078–1085, Philadelphia, PA, USA, July

2005.

- Zhao, F., J. Shin, and J. Reich, "Information-Driven Dynamic Sensor Collaboration for Tracking Applications", *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, Vol. 19, No. 1, pp. 61–72, March 2002.
- Bergamo, P., S. Asgari, H. Wang, D. Maniezzo, L. Yip, R. E. Hudson, K. Yao, and D. Estrin, "Collaborative Sensor Networking Towards Real-Time Acoustical Beamforming in Free-Space and Limited Reverberance", *IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing*, Vol. 3, No. 3, pp. 211–224, July-September 2004.
- Kreucher, C. M., B. Shapo, and R. Bethel, "Multitarget Detection and Tracking Using Multi-sensor Passive Acoustic Data", *Proceedings of the IEEE Aerospace* conference, pp. 1–16, March 2009.
- Toh, Y. K., W. Xiao, and L. Xie, "A Wireless Sensor Network Target Tracking System With Distributed Competition Based Sensor Scheduling", *Proceedings of* the ISSNIP, pp. 257–262, 2007.
- 23. Yan, T., T. He, and J. A. Stankovic, "Differentiated Surveillance for Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the ACM International Conference on Embedded Networked Sensor Systems, Los Angeles, CA, USA, November 2003.
- Vasanthi, N. A. and S. Annadurai, "Energy Saving Schedule for Target Tracking Sensor Networks to Maximize the Network Lifetime", *Proceedings of the Commu*nication System Software and Middleware, pp. 1–8, January 2006.
- 25. Pattem, S., S. Poduri, and B. Krishnamachari, "Energy-Quality Tradeoffs for Target Tracking in Wireless Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the Second International Workshop on Information Processing in Sensor Networks*, pp. 32–36, Palo Alto, California, USA, April 2003.
- 26. Sadaphal, V. P. and B. N. Jain, "Tracking Mobile Target Using Selected Sen-

sors", Proceedings of the International Communication Systems and Networks and Workshops, pp. 1–10, January 2009.

- Chu, M., H. Haussecker, and F. Zhao, "Scalable Information-Driven Sensor Querying and Routing for ad hoc Heterogenous Sensor Networks", *International Journal of High Performance Computing Applications*, Vol. 16, No. 3, pp. 293– 313, August 2002.
- 28. Liu, J., P. Cheung, L. Guibas, and F. Zhao, "A Dual-Space Approach to Tracking and Sensor Management in Wireless Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the ACM Workshop on Wireless Sensor Networks and Applications*, Atlanta, September 2002.
- Chen, W.-P., J. C. Hou, and L. Sha, "Dynamic Clustering for Acoustic Target Tracking in Wireless Sensor Networks", *IEEE Transaction on Mobile Computing*, Vol. 3, No. 3, pp. 258–271, July-September 2004.
- Ramanathan, P., "Location-centric Approach for Collaborative Target Detection, Classification, and Tracking", *Proceedings of the IEEE CAS Workshop on Wireless Communications and Networking*, Pasadena, CA, September 2002.
- Brooks, R. R., P. Ranamathan, and A. Sayeed, "Distributed Target Classification and Tracking in Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the IEEE*, Vol. Volume 91, Issue 8, pp. 1163 – 1171, August 2003.
- 32. Chen, J., K. Cao, Y. Sun, and X. S. Shen, "Adaptive Sensor Activation for Target Tracking in Wireless Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Communications*, Dreesden, Germany, June 2009.
- Brooks, R. R. and C. Griffin, "Traffic Model Evaluation of Ad Hoc Target Tracking Algorithms", International Journal of High Performance Computing Applications, Vol. 16, No. 3, pp. 221–234, 2002.

- Brooks, R. R., C. Griffin, and D. S. Friedlander, "Self-Organized Distributed Sensor Network Entity Tracking", *International Journal of High Performance Computing Applications*, Vol. 16, No. 3, pp. 207–219, 2002.
- 35. Moore, J., T. Keiser, R. R. Brooks, S. Phoha, D. Friedlander, J. Koch, A. Reggio, and N. Jacobson, "Tracking Targets with Self-Organizing Distributed Ground Sensors", *Proceedings of the IEEE Aerospace Conference*, Vol. 5, pp. 5.2113– 5.2123, Big Sky, Montana, March 2003.
- 36. Bejar, R., B. Krishnamachari, C. Gomes, and B. Selman, "Distributed Constraint Satisfaction in a Wireless Sensor Tracking System", Proceedings of the Workshop on Distributed Constraint Reasoning, International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence, Seattle, Washington, August 2001.
- 37. Li, D., K. D. Wong, Y. H. Hu, and A. M. Sayeed, "Detection, Classification, Tracking of Targets in Micro-sensor Networks", *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, Vol. 19, No. 2, pp. 17–29, March 2002.
- 38. Fang, Q., F. Zhao, and L. Guibas, "Counting Targets: Building and Managing Aggregates in Wireless Sensor Networks", Technical Report P2002-10298, Palo Alto Research Center (PARC), June 2002.
- Chen, L., M. Cetin, and A. S. Willsky, "Distributed Data Association for Multi-Target Tracking in Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the International Conference* on Information Fusion, Philadelphia, PA, USA, July 2005.
- 40. Rago, C., P. Willett, and Y. Bar-Shalom, "Censoring Sensors: A Low-Communication-Rate Scheme for Distributed Detection", *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, Vol. 32, No. 4.2, pp. 554–568, April 1996.
- Jiang, R. and B. Chen, "Decision Fusion with Censored Sensors", Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, pp. II–289–II–292, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, May 2004.

- 42. Appadwedula, S., V. V. Veeravalli, and D. L. Jones, "Robust and Locally-Optimum Decentralized Detection With Censoring Sensors", *Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Information Fusion*, pp. 56–63, Annapolis, USA, July 2002.
- Patwari, N., A. O. Hero, and B. M. Sadler, "Hierarchical Censoring Sensors for Change Detection", *Proceedings of the IEEE Workshop on Statistical Signal Pro*cessing, pp. 21–24, St. Louis, MO, September 2003.
- 44. Patwari, N. and A. O. Hero, "Hierarchical Censoring for Distributed Detection in Wireless Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, pp. IV-848-IV-851, Hong Kong, 2003.
- 45. Tian, D. and N. D. Georganas, "A Node Scheduling Scheme for Energy Conservation in Large Wireless Sensor Networks", Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing Journal, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 271–290, May 2003.
- 46. Ye, F., G. Zhong, S. Lu, and L. Zhang, "Energy Efficient Robust Sensing Coverage in Large Sensor Networks", Technical report, UCLA, 2002.
- 47. Wang, W., V. Srinivasan, B. Wang, and K.-C. Chua, "Coverage for Target Localization in Wireless Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the Information Processing* in Sensor Networks, pp. 118–125, April 2006.
- 48. Ertin, E., J. W. Fisher, and L. C. Potter, "Maximum Mutual Information Principle for Dynamic Sensor Query Problems", *Proceedings of the Second International Workshop on Information Processing in Sensor Networks*, pp. 405–416, Palo Alto, California, USA, April 2003.
- Wang, H., K. Yao, G. Pottie, and D. Estrin, "Entropy-based Sensor Selection Heuristic for Target Localization", *Proceedings of the Information Processing in* Sensor Networks, pp. 36–45, Berkeley, California, USA, April 2004.

- 50. Han, Y. and W. Zhao, "A Novel Node Selection Method of Bearings-only Sensors for Target Tracking in Wireless Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the International Conference on Communications and Mobile Computing*, Vol. 1, pp. 136–140, January 2009.
- Zhao, W., Y. Han, H. Wu, and L. Zhang, "Weighted Distance Based Sensor Selection for Target Tracking in Wireless Sensor Networks", *IEEE Signal Processing Letters*, Vol. 16, No. 8, pp. 647–650, August 2009.
- Viswanathan, R. and P. K. Varshney, "Distributed Detection With Multiple Sensors: Part I-Fundementals", *Proceedings of the IEEE*, Vol. 85, pp. 54–63, January 1997.
- Blum, R. S., S. A. Kassam, and H. V. Poor, "Distributed Detection with Multiple Sensors: Part II-Advanced Topics", *Proceedings of the IEEE*, Vol. 85, pp. 64–79, January 1997.
- 54. Isler, V., J. Spletzer, S. Khanna, and C. Taylor, "Target Tracking in Sensor Networks: the Focus of Attention Problem", *Proceedings of the Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems*, Las Vegas, USA, 2003.
- 55. Mori, S., W. H. Barker, C.-Y. Chong, and K.-C. Chang, "Track Association and Track Fusion With Nondeterministic Target Dynamics", *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, Vol. 38, No. 2, pp. 659–668, April 2002.
- Reid, D. B., "An Algorithm for Tracking Multiple Targets", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, Vol. AC-24, pp. 843–854, 1979.
- 57. Mori, S., C. Y. Chong, E. Tse, and R. P. Wishner, "Tracking and Classifying Targets Without a Priori Identification", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, Vol. AC-31, pp. 401–409, May 1986.
- 58. Fortman, T. E., Y. Bar-Shalom, and M. Scheffe, "Multi-target Tracking Using

Joint Probablistic Data Association", *Proceedings of the 19th IEEE Conference* on Decision Control, pp. 807–812, Albuquerque, NM, 1980.

- Bar-Shalom, Y., T. E. Fortmann, and M. Scheffe, "Joint Probabilistic Data Association for Multiple Targets in Clutter", *Proceedings of the Conference on In*formation Science Systems, Princeton Univ., Princeton, NJ, 1980.
- Chang, K. C., C. Y. Chong, and Y. Bar-Shalom, "Joint Probabilistic Data Association in Distributed Sensor Networks", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, Vol. AC-31, pp. 889–897, October 1986.
- Chong, C. Y., S. Mori, and K. C. Chang, "Information Fusion in Distributed Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the American Control Conference*, pp. 830–835, 1985.
- T.Vercauteren, D.Guo, and X.Wang, "Joint Multiple Target Tracking and Classification in Collaborative Sensor Networks", *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, Vol. 23, pp. 714–723, 2005.
- 63. Tinati, M. A. and T. Y. Rezaii, "Multi-target Tracking in Wireless Sensor Networks Using Distributed Joint Probabilistic Data Association and Average Consensus Filter", Proceedings of the International Conference on Advanced Computer Control, pp. 51–56, January 2009.
- Bar-Shalom, Y. and X. R. Li, Multisensor, Multitarget Tracking: Principles and Techniques, YBS Publishing, 1995.
- Chang, K. C., R. Saha, and Y. Bar-Shalom, "On Optimal Track-to-Track Fusion", *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, Vol. 33(4), pp. 1271– 1276, October 1997.
- 66. Roecker, J. A. and C. D. McGillem, "Comparison of Two-Sensor Tracking Methods Based on State Vector Fusion and Measurement Fusion", *IEEE Transactions*

on Aerospace and Electronic Systems, Vol. 24, pp. 447–449, July 1988.

- Zhu, H., C. Han, and C. Li, "Graphical Models-based Track Association Algorithm", Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Fusion, pp. 1–8, July 2007.
- Xue, Q. and A. Ganz, "Vertical Communication in Multimedia Multi-tier Tactical Networks", *Proceedings of the IEEE Military Communications Conference* (*MILCOM*), Boston, MA, October 2003.
- Feng, Z., L. Jie, L. Juan, G. Leonidas, and R. James, "Collaborative Signal and Information Processing: An Information-Directed Approach", *Proceedings of the IEEE*, Vol. 91, No. 8, pp. 1199–1209, August 2003.
- Zou, Y. and K. Chakrabarty, "Sensor Deployment and Target Localization Based on Virtual Forces", *Proceedings of the IEEE INFOCOM*, pp. 1293–1303, 2003.
- Zou, Y. and K. Chakrabarty, "Sensor Deployment and Target Localization in Distributed Sensor Networks", ACM Transactions on Embedded Computing Systems, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 61–91, February 2004.
- 72. Zou, Y. and K. Chakrabarty, "Energy-Aware Target Localization in Wireless Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the First IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications (PerCom03), 2003.
- 73. Musman, S. A., P. E. Lehner, and C. Elsaesser, "Sensor Planning for Elusive Targets", Journal of Computer & Mathematical Modeling, Vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 103–115, 1997.
- 74. Howard, A., M. J. Mataric, and G. S. Sukhatme, "Mobile Sensor Network Deployment Using Potential Field: a Distributed Scalable Solution to the Area Coverage Problem", Proceedings of the International Conference on Distributed Autonomous Robotic Systems, June 2002.

- Meguerdichian, S., S. Slijepcevic, V. Karayan, and M. Potkonjak, "Coverage Problems in Wireless Ad-hoc Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the IEEE INFOCOM*, Vol. 3, pp. 1380–1387, 2001.
- 76. Chakrabarty, K., S. S. Iyengar, H. Qi, and E. Cho, "Grid Coverage for Surveillance and Target Location in Distributed Sensor Networks", *IEEE Transactions on Computers*, Vol. 51, pp. 1448–1453, 2002.
- 77. Chakrabarty, K., S. S. Iyengar, H. Qi, and E. Cho, "Coding Theory Framework for Target Location in Distributed Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the International* Symposium on Information Technology: Coding and Computing, pp. 130–134, 2001.
- Priyantha, N. B., A. Chakraborty, and H. Balakrishnan, "The Cricket Locationsupport System", Proceedings of the ACM/IEEE International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking, pp. 32–43, 2000.
- Dhillon, S. S., K. Chakrabarty, and S. S. Iyengar, "Sensor Placement Algorithms for Grid Coverage", *Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Fusion*, pp. 1581–1587, 2002.
- Thornson, S. and T.Narten, "Ipv6 Stateless Autoconfiguration", Technical Report RFC 2462, 1998.
- Perkins, C., E. Royer, and S.R.Das, "IP Address Autoconfiguration for Ad Hoc Networks", Technical report, Internet Engineering Task Force, MANET Working Group, July 2000.
- Nesargi, S. and R. Prakash, "MANETconf: Configuration of Hosts in a Mobile Ad Hoc Network", *Proceedings of the INFOCOM*, 2002.
- Mohsin, M. and R. Prakash, "IP Address Assignment in a Mobile Ad Hoc Network", *Proceedings of the MILCOM*, 2002.

- McAulley, A. J. and K. Manousakis, "Self-Configuring Networks", Proceedings of the MILCOM 2000, 21st Century Military Communications Conference, Vol. 1, pp. 315–319, 2000.
- Misra, A., S. Das, A. McAulley, and S. K. Das, "Autoconfiguration, Registration, and Mobility Management for Pervasive Computing", *IEEE Personal Communications*, Vol. 8, No. 4, pp. 24–31, August 2001.
- Heinzelman, W., J. Kulig, and H. Balakrishnan, "Adaptive Protocols for Information Dissemination in Wireless Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the ACM MobiCom99*, pp. 174–185, Seatle, Washington, 1999.
- 87. Intanagonwiwat, C., R. Govindan, and D. Estrin, "Directed Diffusion: A Scalable and Robust Communication Paradigm for Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the* ACM Mobicom00, pp. 56–57, Boston, MA, 2000.
- 88. Braginsky, D. and D. Estrin, "Rumor Routing Algorithm for Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the First Workshop on Sensor Networks and Applications (WSNA), Atlanta, GA, October 2002.
- Schurgers, C. and M. B. Srivastava, "Energy Efficient Routing in Wireless Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the MILCOM on Communications for Network-Centric Operations: Creating the Information Force, McLean, VA, 2001.
- 90. Manjeshwar, A. and D. P. Agrawal, "TEEN : A Protocol for Enhanced Efficiency in Wireless Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Parallel and Distributed Computing Issues in Wireless Networks and Mobile Computing, San Francisco, CA, April 2001.
- Yao, Y. and J. Gehrke, "The Cougar Approach to In-network Query Processing in Sensor Networks", SIGMOD Record, Vol. 31, No. 3, pp. 9–18, September 2002.
- 92. Shah, R. and J. Rabaey, "Energy Aware Routing for Low Energy Ad Hoc Sensor

Networks", Proceedings of the IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (WCNC), Orlando, FL, March 2002.

- 93. Sadagopan, N., B. Krishnamachari, and A. Helmy, "The ACQUIRE Mechanism for Efficient Querying in Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the First International Workshop on Sensor Network Protocol and Applications (SNPA), Anchorage, Alaska, May 2003.
- Buczak, A. and V. Jamalabad, Self-organization of a Heterogeneous Sensor Network by Genetic Algorithms, Vol. 8, ASME Press, 1998.
- 95. Lin, C. R. and M. Gerla, "Adaptive Clustering for Mobile Wireless Networks", *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, Vol. 15, No. 7, pp. 1265– 1275, 1997.
- 96. Heinzelman, W. R., A. Chandrakasan, and H. Balakrishnan, "Energy-efficient Communication Protocol for Wireless Microsensor Networks", Proceedings of the IEEE Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, January 2000.
- 97. Lindsey, S. and C. S. Raghavendra, "PEGASIS: Power Efficient GAthering in Sensor Information Systems", *Proceedings of the IEEE Aerospace Conference*, Big Sky, Montana, March 2002.
- 98. Lindsey, S., C. S. Raghavendra, and K. Sivalingam, "Data Gathering in Sensor Networks using the Energy*Delay Metric", *Proceedings of the IPDPS Workshop* on Issues in Wireless Networks and Mobile Computing, San Francisco, CA, April 2001.
- 99. Manjeshwar, A. and D. P. Agrawal, "APTEEN: A Hybrid Protocol for Efficient Routing and Comprehensive Information Retrieval in Wireless Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on Parallel and Distributed Computing Issues in Wireless Networks and Mobile computing, Ft. Lauderdale, FL, April 2002.

- 100. Younis, M., M. Youssef, and K. Arisha, "Energy-Aware Routing in Cluster-Based Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the 10th IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Modeling, Analysis and Simulation of Computer and Telecommunication Systems (MASCOTS2002), Fort Worth, TX, October 2002.
- 101. Subramanian, L. and R. H. Katz, "An Architecture for Building Self Configurable Systems", Proceedings of the IEEE/ACM Workshop on Mobile Ad Hoc Networking and Computing, Boston, MA, August 2000.
- 102. Rodoplu, V. and T. Ming, "Minimum Energy Mobile Wireless Networks", IEEE Journal of Selected Areas in Communications, Vol. 17, No. 8, pp. 1333–1344, 1999.
- 103. Li, L. and J. Y. Halpern, "Minimum Energy Mobile Wireless Networks Revisited", Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC01), Helsinki, Finland, June 2001.
- 104. Xu, Y., J. Heidemann, and D. Estrin, "Geography-informed Energy Conservation for Ad Hoc Routing", Proceedings of the 7th Annual ACM/IEEE International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking (MobiCom01), Rome, Italy, July 2001.
- 105. Yu, Y., D. Estrin, and R. Govindan, "Geographical and Energy-Aware Routing: A Recursive Data Dissemination Protocol for Wireless Sensor Networks", Technical Report UCLA-CSD TR-01-0023, UCLA Computer Science Department, May 2001.
- 106. Kalpakis, K., K. Dasgupta, and P. Namjoshi, "Maximum Lifetime Data Gathering and Aggregation in Wireless Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Networking (NETWORKS '02)*, Atlanta, GA, August 2002.
- 107. Chang, J. H. and L. Tassiulas, "Maximum Lifetime Routing in Wireless Sen-

sor Networks", Proceedings of the Advanced Telecommunications and Information Distribution Research Program (ATIRP'2000), College Park, MD, March 2000.

- 108. Akkaya, K. and M. Younis, "An Energy-Aware QoS Routing Protocol for Wireless Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the IEEE Workshop on Mobile and Wireless Networks (MWN 2003), Providence, Rhode Island, May 2003.
- 109. Sohrabi, K., J. Gao, V. Ailawadhi, and G. J. Pottie, "Protocols for Selforganization of a Wireless Sensor Network", *IEEE Personal Communications*, pp. 16–27, October 2000.
- 110. He, T., J. A. Stankovic, C. Lu, and T. Abdelzaher, "SPEED: A Stateless Protocol for Real-time Communication in Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the International Conference on Distributed Computing Systems*, Providence, RI, May 2003.
- 111. Hall, D. L. and J. Llinas, "An Introduction To Multisensor Data Fusion", Proceedings of IEEE, Vol. 85, No. 1, pp. 6–23, January 1997.
- Sasiadek, J. Z., "Sensor Fusion", Annual Reviews in Control, Vol. 26, pp. 203–228, 2002.
- 113. Brunet, M. and M. Adelantado, "Multisensor Multitarget Tracking for Airport Simulation", Proceedings of the IASTED International Conference on Applied Simulation and Modelling, Crete, Greece, June 2002.
- Brooks, R. R., Data Fusion for a Distributed Ground-based Sensing System, CRC Press, 2001, chapter 2.
- 115. Stubberud, S. C. and K. A. Kramer, "Fuzzy Logic Based Data Association with Target/Sensor Soft Constraints", *Proceedings of the IEEE International Sympo*sium on Intelligent Control, pp. 620–625, October 2007.
- 116. Sengupta, D. and R. A. Iltis, "Neural Solution to the Multitarget Tracking Data Association Problem", *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronics Systems*,

Vol. 25, pp. 86–108, 1989.

- 117. Carrier, J.-Y., J. Litue, H. Leung, and T. Lo, "Genetic Algorithm for Multiple Target Tracking Data Association", *Proceedings of SPIE*, the international society for optical engineering, Vol. 273, pp. 180–190, 1996.
- 118. Jaikaeo, C., C. Srisathapornphat, and C. Shen, "Querying and Tasking in Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the SPIE's 14th Annual International Symposium on Aerospace/Defense Sensing Simulation, and Control, pp. 24–28, 2000.
- 119. Boulis, A., S. Ganeriwal, and M. Srivastava, "Aggregation in Sensor Networks: An Energy-Accuracy Tradeoff", Proceedings of the First IEEE International Workshop on Sensor Network Protocols and Applications (SNPA'03), pp. 128–138, May 2003.
- 120. Krishnamachari, B., D. Estrin, and S. Wicker, "The Impact of Data Aggregation in Wireless Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the International Workshop of Distributed Event Based Systems (DEBS), Vienna, Austria, July 2002.
- 121. Heideman, J., F. Silva, C. Intanagonwiwat, R. Govindan, D. Estrin, and D. Ganesan, "Building Efficient Wireless Sensor Networks With Low-level Naming", Proceedings of the ACM Symposium on Operating System Principles, Banf, Canada, October 2001.
- 122. Madden, S., M. J. Franklin, J. Hellerstein, and W. Hong, "TAG: A Tiny Aggregation Service for Ad-Hoc Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the Fifth Symposium* on Operating Systems Design and Implementation (OSDI02), Boston, MA, USA, December 2002.
- 123. Zhao, J., R. Govindan, and D. Estrin, "Computing Aggregates for Monitoring Wireless Sensor Networks", Proceedings of the First IEEE International Workshop on Sensor Network Protocols and Applications (SNPA03), Anchorage, AK, USA, May 2003.

- 124. Krzystofowicz, R. and D. Long, "Fusion of Detection Probabilities and Comparison of Multisensor Systems", *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics*, Vol. 20, No. 3, pp. 665–677, May/June 1990.
- 125. Delic, H. and D. Kazakos, "Fusion of Likelihood Ratios in Distributed Bayesian Detection", Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, pp. 755–760, Charlottesville, Virginia, October 1991.
- 126. Delic, H. and D. Kazakos, "Multisensor Bayesian Detection Through the Fusion of Likelihood Ratios", Proceedings of the 25th Annual Conference on Information Sciences and Systems, pp. 283–286, Baltimore, Maryland, March 1991.
- 127. Arora, A., P. Dutta, S. Bapat, V. Kulathumani, H. Zhang, V. Naik, V. Mittal, H. Cao, M. Demirbas, M. Gouda, Y. Choi, T. Herman, S. Kulkarni, U. Arumugam, M. Nesterenko, A. Vora, and M. Miyashita, "A Line in the Sand: a Wireless Sensor Network for Target Detection, Classification, and Tracking", *Computer Networks Journal*, Vol. 46, No. 5, pp. 605–634, December 2004.
- 128. Dutta, P. K. and A. K. Arora, "Sensing Civilians, Soldiers, and Cars", Technical Report OSU-CISRC-12/03-R66, The Ohio State University department of Computer and Information Science, 2003.
- 129. Zack Butler, D. R., "Event-Based Motion Control for Mobile-Sensor Networks", *IEEE Pervasive Computing*, Vol. 02, No. 4, pp. 34–42, October-December 2003.
- 130. Clouqueur, T., V. Phipatanasuphorn, P. Ramanathan, and K. K. Saluja, "Sensor Deployment Strategy for Target Detection", *Proceedings of the First ACM International Workshop on Wireless Sensor Networks and Applications (WSNA'02)*, September 2002.
- Arslan, G., Effect of 3D Topographies for the Performance Evaluation of Wireless Sensor Network, Master's thesis, Bogazici University, 2006.

- 132. Locher, T., R. Wattenhofer, and A. Zollinger, "Received-Signal-Strength-Based Logical Positioning Resilient to Signal Fluctuation", *Proceedings of the ACIS International Workshop on Self-Assembling Wireless Sensor Networks*, Baltimore, Maryland, USA, May 2005.
- 133. Biswas, P., T.-C. Liang, K.-C. Toh, Y. Ye, and T.-C. Wang, "Semidefinite Programming Approaches for Sensor Network Localization With Noisy Distance Measurements", *IEEE Transactions on Automation Science and Engineering*, Vol. 3, pp. 360–371, October 2006.
- 134. Lin, J., Wendong, F. L. Lewi, and L. Xie, "Energy-Efficient Distributed Adaptive Multisensor Scheduling for Target Tracking in Wireless Sensor Networks", *IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation and Measurement*, Vol. 58, No. 6, pp. 1886– 1896, June 2009.
- 135. Xue, H., B. Chen, and J. Wan, "A Distributed Target Tracking Algorithm Based on Asynchronous Wireless Sensor Networks", *Proceedings of the International Conference on Electronic Computer Technology*, pp. 549–553, February 2009.
- 136. Bush, S. F., "Low-Energy Network Time Synchronization as an Emergent Property", Proceedings of the International Conference on Computer Communications and Networks (IEEE ICCCN), San Diego, California USA, October 2005.
- 137. Serpedin, E. and Q. M. Chaudhari, Synchronization in Wireless Sensor Networks:Parameter Estimation, Performance Benchmarks, and Protocols, Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- 138. Bar-Shalom, Y., X. R. Li, and T. Kirubarajan, Estimation with Applications to Tracking and Navigation, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2001.
- 139. Lerro, D. and Y. Bar-Shalom, "Tracking With Debiased Consistent Converted Measurements Versus EKF", *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, Vol. 29, No. 3, pp. 1015–1022, July 1993.

- 140. Grocholsky, B., A. Makarenko, and H. Durrant-Whyte, "Information-Theoretic Coordinated Control of Multiple Sensor Platforms", *Proceedings of the IEEE In*ternational Conference on Robotics & Automation, pp. 1521–1526, Taipei, Taiwan, September 2003.
- 141. Kalpakis, K., K. Dasgupta, and P. Namjoshi, "Efficient Algorithms for Maximum Lifetime Data Gathering and Aggregation in Wireless Sensor Networks", *Computer Networks*, 2003.
- Cover, T. M. and J. A. Thomas, *Elements of Information Theory*, John Wiley, 1991.
- 143. Azevedo, S. and T. E. McEwan, "Micropower Impulse Radar", Science and Technology Review, pp. 17–29, January/February 1996.
- 144. Kalman, R. E., "A New Approach to Linear Filtering and Prediction Problems", *Transactions of the ASME–Journal of Basic Engineering*, Vol. 82, pp. 35–45, 1960, series D.
- 145. Kotz, D., C. Newport, R. S. Gray, J. Liu, Y. Yuan, and C. Elliott, "Experimental Evaluation of Wireless Simulation Assumptions", *Proceedings of the ACM/IEEE* Symposium on Modeling, Analysis and Simulation of Wireless and Mobile Systems, pp. 78–82, Venice, Italy, October 2004.
- 146. Hughes, E. J. and I. Izzawati, "Investigation Into the Utility of Using CFAR Cluster Size Information in Target Track Association", Proceedings of the IET Seminar on Target Tracking and Data Fusion: Algorithms and Applications, pp. 7–12, April 2008.
- 147. Duda, R. O., P. E. Hart, and D. G. Stork, *Pattern Classification*, Wiley Interscience, 2000.
- 148. Chong, C. Y. and S. P. Kumar, "Sensor Networks: Evolution, Opportunities,

and Challenges", *Proceedings of the IEEE*, Vol. 91, No. 8, pp. 1247–1256, August 2003.

- 149. intel, http://software.intel.com, 2009.
- 150. Bar-Shalom, Y. and H. Chen, "Track Association and Fusion With Heterogeneous Local Trackers", Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Fusion, July 2007.
- 151. Chen, H. and Y. Bar-Shalom, "Track Association and Fusion With Heterogeneous Local Trackers", *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, pp. 2675–2680, December 2007.
- 152. Tolgay, T., Distributed Localization Algorithms for Target Tracking in Wireless Sensor Networks, Master's thesis, Bogazici University, 2009.
- 153. Akduran, M. O., Fuzzy Inference System as a Collaboration Logic and a New M/N-Based Track Initiation Logic For Wireless Sensor Networks, Master's thesis, Bogazici University, 2009.
- 154. Singh, R. and W. H. Bailey, "Fuzzy Logic Applications to Multi-sensor Multitarget Correlation", *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, Vol. 33, pp. 752–769, 1997.
- 155. Yuan, L., X. Wei-Xing, D. Wen-Ji, and L. Yin-Fen, "Fuzzy logic Fusion Capabilities for Efficient Implementation of Data Association", *Proceedings of ICSP*, pp. 1315–1318, 1998.
- 156. Aziz, A. M., M. Tummala, and R. Cristi, "Fuzzy Logic Data Approach in Multisensor Multi-target Tracking Systems", *Journal of Signal Processing*, Vol. 76, pp. 195–209, 1999.
- 157. Stubberud, S. C., "Measurement-to-track Association Using Fuzzy Logic Compared to the Chi-squared Metric", *Proceedings of the IEEE International Confer-*

ence on Fuzzy Systems, Vol. 2, pp. 1038–1042, May 2003.

- 158. Stubberud, S. C. and K. A. Kramer, "Data Association for Multiple Sensor Types Using Fuzzy Logic", Proceedings of the IEEE Instrumentation and Measurement Technology Conference, Vol. 3, pp. 2154–2159, May 2005.
- 159. Stubberud, S. C. and K. A. Kramer, "Data Association for Multiple Sensor Types Using Fuzzy Logic", *IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation and Measurement*, Vol. 55, No. 6, pp. 2292–2303, December 2006.
- 160. Tafti, A. D. and N. Sadati, "Fuzzy Clustering Means Data Association Algorithm Using an Adaptive Neuro-fuzzy Network", *Proceedings of the IEEE Aerospace* conference, pp. 1–5, March 2009.
- 161. Aziz, A. M., "Fuzzy Track-to-track Association and Track Fusion Approach in Distributed Multisensor-multitarget Multiple-attribute Environment", *Signal Processing*, Vol. 87, pp. 1474–1492, 2007.
- 162. Onel, T., E. Cayirci, and C. Ersoy, "Application of Fuzzy Inference Systems to the Handoff Decision Algorithms in Virtual Cell Layout Based Tactical Communications Systems", *Proceedings of the MILCOM*, October 2002.
- 163. Onel, T., C. Ersoy, E. Cayirci, and G. Parr, "A Multicriteria Handoff Decision Scheme for the Next Generation Tactical Communications Systems", *Computer Networks*, Vol. 46(5), pp. 695–708, December 2004.
- 164. Snedecor, G. W. and W. G. Cochran, *Statistical Methods*, Iowa State University Press, 8 edition, 1989.
- 165. Tukey, J. W., Exploratory Data Analysis, Addison-Wesley, 1977.